Nihan Aktaş	THE INHIBITION OF AUTOPHAGY AND
TH	HEDGEHOG PATHWAY LEADS TO A
HE IN PA	DECREASE IN THE PROLIFERATION
HIBIT THW,	OF CHOLANGIOCARCINOMA
ION OF AUTOPHAGY AND HE	A MASTER'S THESIS
EDGE	Ву
HOG	Nihan Aktaş
AGU 2019	

THE INHIBITION OF AUTOPHAGY AND HEDGEHOG PATHWAY LEADS TO A DECREASE IN THE PROLIFERATION OF CHOLANGIOCARCINOMA

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF BIOENGINEERING AND THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING AND SCIENCE OF ABDULLAH GUL UNIVERSITY IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

> By Nihan Aktaş June, 2019

SCIENTIFIC ETHICS COMPLIANCE

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all materials and results that are not original to this work.

Name-Surname: Nihan Aktaş Signature :

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

M.Sc. thesis titled The Inhibition of Autophagy and Hedgehog Pathway Leads to a Decrease in the Survival of Cholangiocarcinoma has been prepared in accordance with the Thesis Writing Guidelines of the Abdullah Gül University, Graduate School of Engineering & Science.

Prepared By

Nihan Aktaş

Advisor

Mona El Khatib

Head of the Bioengineering Program Sevil Dinçer İşoğlu

ACCEPTANCE AND APPROVAL

M.Sc. thesis titled The Inhibition of Autophagy and Hedgehog Pathway Leads to a Decrease in the Survival of Cholangiocarcinoma and prepared by Nihan Aktaş has been accepted by the jury in the Bioengineering Graduate Program at Abdullah Gül University, Graduate School of Engineering & Science.

(Thesis Defense Exam Date)

JURY:

Advisor	:	signature
Member	:	signature
Member	:	signature

APPROVAL:

The acceptance of this M.Sc. thesis has been approved by the decision of the Abdullah Gül University, Graduate School of Engineering & Science, Executive Board dated

Prof. Dr. İrfan Alan Graduate School Dean

ABSTRACT

THE INHIBITION OF AUTOPHAGY AND HEDGEHOG PATHWAY LEADS TO A DECREASE IN THE PROLIFERATION OF CHOLANGIOCARCINOMA

Nihan Aktaş MSc. in Bioengineering **Supervisor:** Asst. Prof. Mona El Khatib

June, 2019

Cholangiocarcinoma (CCA) is the second most common liver cancer type. The median survival rate of CCA patients is really low. Aberrant signaling pathways such as PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway could be main drivers in CCA pathogenesis. Hedgehog (Hh) pathway is also dysregulated in several carcinomas including CCA. It regulates and crosstalks with autophagy, which is a lysosomal degradation process. There is no study showing the crosstalk between Hh pathway and autophagy in the context of CCA. Since both autophagy and Hh pathways are dysregulated in CCA, better understanding of how they crosstalk with each other and contribute to CCA pathogenesis is important. Considering this crosstalk between Hh pathway and autophagy, we conducted a combination treatment comprising Hh and autophagy pathway inhibitors in EGI-1 and TFK-1 CCA cell lines. In our study, we firstly checked anti-proliferative effects of Hh pathway inhibitor, GANT61, and different autophagy blockers using MTT and Annexin V assay and cell cycle analysis. After determination of IC30 of GANT61 (15 uM), chloroquine (25 uM for TFK-1 and 50 uM for EGI-1), and nocodazole (0.2 uM for EGI-1 and 0.4 uM for TFK-1), we conducted combination experiments. When we inhibit Hh pathway with targeting different steps of autophagy, we observed that proliferation of both EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells decreased compared to single treatments. After that, we checked the expression of autophagy-related LC3B protein and Akt, a negative regulator of autophagy, using western blotting after single treatments and combinational treatments. Based on the change in LC3B and Akt expression, we also concluded that, inhibition of autophagy with Hh pathway either induce or inhibit autophagy depends on the administered treatments. This study highlights the importance of deciphering the exact mechanisms that control autophagy in CCA, thus leading to better treatment. Keywords: Hedgehog, autophagy, combination, cholangiocarcinoma

ÖZET

KOLANJİYOKARSİNOMA PROLİFERASYONUNUN OTOFAJİ VE HEDGEHOG SİNYAL YOLAKLARININ İNHİBİSYONU İLE AZALTILMASI

Nihan Aktaş Biyomühendislik Anabilim Dalı Yüksek Lisans Tez Yöneticisi: Dr. Öğr. Üyesi Mona El Khatib Haziran, 2019

Kolanjiokarsinoma (KKA) ikinci en yaygın karaciğer kanseri türü olarak bilinmektedir. KKA hastalarında hayatta kalma oranları olduça düşüktür. KKA patogenezinde PI3K/AKT/mTOR gibi sinyal yolaklarındaki bozuklukların temel mekanizmalardan biri olduğu düşünülmektedir. Hedgehog sinyal yolağının da KKA dahil birçok karsinogenezde bozulduğu daha önceki çalışmalarla gösterilmiştir. Hh sinyal yolağının lizozomal yıkım sürecinde rol alan otofaji sinyal yolağı ile de etkileşim halinde olduğu bilinmektedir. KKA patogenezinde Hh ve otofaji yolaklarındaki etkileşimin rolü bilinmemektedir. Bu yolaklarının KKA'da deregule edildiği de düşünülerek, bu iki sinyal yolağı arasındaki etkileşimin ve bu etkileşimin KKA patogenezindeki rolünün anlaşılması oldukça önemlidir. Bu çalışmada Hh ve otofaji yolakları arasındaki etkileşimi göz önünde bulundurarak EGI-1 ve TFK-1 hücrelerine otofaji ve Hh sinyal yolağı inhibitörlerini içeren bir kombinasyon muamelesi yapılmıştır. Çalışmamızda ilk olarak bir Hh inhibitörü olan GANT61'in ve farklı otofaji inhibitörlerinin antiproliferatif etkileri MTT, Annexin V ve hücre siklusu analizi ile ortaya konulmuştur. GANT61 (15 uM), chloroquine (TFK-1 için 25 uM ve EGI-1 için 50 uM), ve nocodazole (EGI-1 için 0.2 uM ve TFK-1 için 0.4 uM)'ün IC30 konsantrasyonları belirlendikten sonra, kombinasyon denemeleri yapılmıştır. EGI-1 ve TFK-1 hücreleri Hh inhibitörü ve otofaji yolağının farklı basamaklarını inhibe eden inhibitörlerle muamele edildiğinde, her iki kombinasyonda da hücre proliferasyonunun azaldığı gözlemlenmiştir.Hem tek bir inhibitörle hem de kombinasyonla muamele edilmiş hücrelerin otofaji bağlantılı LC3B ve otofajinin nefatif regülatörü olan Akt ifadesi western blot yöntemi ile incelenmiştir.LC3B ifadesi, Hh inhibisyonu ile birlikte otofajide hangi basamağın inhibe edildiğine bağlı olarak kombinasyonun otofajiyi tetiklediği ya da baskıladığını ortaya koymaktadır. Bu veriler CCA'da otofajiyi kontrol eden mekanizmaları ortaya koyarak, tedavisi için umut vadetmektedir.

Anahtar kelimeler: hedgehog, otofaji, kombinasyon, kolanjiokarsinoma

Acknowledgements

Foremost, I would like to express my appreciation to my advisor Asst. Prof. Mona El Khatib for her support, motivation, patience, kindness and sharing her knowledge with me during my research. Her guidance during this tiring process always helped me and I solved all the problems thanks to her. It is impossible to imagine a better advisor and mentor for master's study.

Besides my advisor, I am gratefully indebted to other committee members Prof. Dr. Mikail Akbulut and Asst. Prof. Aysun Adan for their valuable comments on my thesis.

My sincere thanks also goes to Prof. Dr.Yusuf Baran to offer me to my advisor and encourage me during all my master's education.

I would also like to thank other members of MEK lab, Helin and Merve, for their cooperation, support, and of course friendship and Yagmur Kiraz for sharing her experiences with me.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my parents, to my sister and brother and to my fiancee for providing me continuous support and encouragement thoroughout my education and my life in general. This success would not have been possible without them.

This project has been supported by AGU-BAP: TAB-2016-67. I would like to thank AGU-BAP for supporting our study.

Nihan Aktas

Table of Contents

1. Introduction
1.1. Anatomy of Liver and Biliary Tract1
1.2. Primary Liver Cancers
1.2.1 Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC)2
1.2.2 Cholangiocarcinoma (CCA)
1.2.3 Autophagy in CCA14
1.2.4 Hedgehog Pathway18
2. MATERIAL AND METHOD
2.1 Maintenance of cells
2.2 Detection of Protein Expression by Western Blotting
2.3 Drug Preparation and In Vitro Cell Viability Assay
2.4 Autophagy Modulation by Autophagy Blockers
2.5 Cell Death Assay
2.6 Cell Cycle Analysis
2.7 Combination Experiments
2.8 Statistical analysis
3. RESULTS
3.1. Autophagy Signaling Manipulation and Its Effect on the Proliferation of
CCA Cell Lines
3.2 The Effect of Hedgehog Pathway Inhibition on the proliferation of CCA
Cell Lines
3.3 Combatting CCA by the Dual Inhibition of Hh and Autophagy
3.4 Autophagy inhibition Lead to an Increase in Cell Death in TFK-1 and EGI-
1 CCA Cell Lines
3.5 The Effect of Autophagy Inhibition or Combination Treatment of Hh and
Autophagy inhibition on the markers of Autophagic Pathway
4. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS
4.1.CONCLUSION
4.2. FUTURE PERSPECTIVES55
6. BIBLIOGRAPHY

List of Figures

Figure 3.1.1. The effect of PP242 treatment on the cell proliferation of EGI-1 and TFK-
1 cells for 24h, 48h and 72h28
Figure 3.1.2. The effect of Nocodazole treatment on the cell proliferation of EGI-1 and
TFK-1 cells for 24h, 48h and 72h29
Figure 3.1.3 The effect of Vinblastine treatment on the cell proliferation of EGI-1 and
TFK-1 cells for 24h, 48h and 72hHata! Yer işareti tanımlanmamış.
Figure 3.1.4 The effect of Hydroxychloroquine treatment on the cell proliferation of
EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells for 24h, 48h and 72h31
Figure 3.1.5 The effect of Chloroquine treatment on the cell proliferation of EGI-1 and
TFK-1 cells for 24h, 48h and 72h
Figure 3.1.11 The effect of ammonium chloride treatment on the cell proliferation of
EGI-1 cell for 24h, 48h and 72h
Figure 3.1.12 The effect of ammonium chloride treatment on the cell proliferation of
TFK-1 cell for 24h, 48h and 72h
These data indicate that autophagy is an important mechanism that is essential for the
survival and proliferation of CCA cell lines and inhibiting it can decrease the
proliferation of this aggresive cancer
Figure 3.2 The effect of GANT61 treatment on the cell proliferation of EGI-1 and TFK-
1 cells for 24h, 48h and 72h
Figure 3.3.1 (A) The proliferation of EGI-1 cells after treatment with GANT61 alone
(15 μ M), chloroquine alone (25 μ M) and combination of GANT61 and chloroquine for
48h (B) The proliferation of EGI-1 cells after treatment with GANT61 alone (15 μ M),
nocodazole alone (0,2 μ M) and combination of GANT61 and chloroquine for 48h 34
Figure 3.3.2 (A) The proliferation of TFK-1 cells after treatment with GANT61 alone
(15 μ M), chloroquine alone (50 μ M) and combination of GANT61 and chloroquine for
48h (B) The proliferation of TFK-1 cells after treatment with GANT61 alone (15 μ M),
Nocodazole alone (0,4 μ M) and combination of GANT61 and chloroquine for 48h 35

Figure 3.4.1 Determination of apoptotic cell percentage of TFK-1 cells after 48h hydroxychloroquine, chloroquine and ammonium chloride treatment.. **Hata! Yer işareti tanımlanmamış.**

Figure 3.4.2 Determination of apoptotic cell percentage of EGI-1 cells after 48h
chloroquine and ammonium chloride treatment
Figure 3.4.6 Cell cycle analysis of EGI-1 cells by flow cytometer after ammonium
chloride treatment
Figure 3.4.7 Cell cycle analysis of TFK-1 cells by flow cytometer after ammonium
chloride treatment
Figure 3.4.8 Cell cycle analysis of TFK-1 cells by flow cytometer after chloroquine
treatment
Figure 3.4.9 Cell cycle analysis of TFK-1 cells by flow cytometer after
hydroxychloroquine treatment
Figure 3.5.1 Western blot analysis of EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells after ammonium chloride
(AC) treatment
Figure 3.5.3 Western blot analysis of TFK-1 cells after chloroquine and
hydroxychloroquine treatments
Figure 3.5.4 Western blot analysis of EGI-1 cells after GANT61/chloroquine and
GANT61/nocodazole combination
Figure 3.5.5 Western blot analysis of TFK-1 cells after GANT61/chloroquine and
GANT61/nocodazole combination

List of Tables

Table 1.2.2.4.1 Molecular aberrations and potential inhibitors in iCCA	7
Table 1.2.2.4.2 Molecular aberrations and potential inhibitors in dCCA	8
Table 1.2.2.4.3 Molecular aberrations and potential inhibitors in pCCA	9
Table 1.2.2.7.1 Autophagy Inhibitors	17
Table 2.7.1 Concentrations of drugs for combination experiments	

1. Introduction

Cholangiocarcinoma (CCA) is one of the most common liver cancer types. The median 5-year survival rate of CCA patients is ranging between 15% and 30% [71]. It has been shown that aberrant signaling pathways such as PI3K/AKT/mTOR and Notch could be the main drivers of the CCA pathogenesis [35,177, 187, 253]. Hedgehog (Hh) pathway is one of these pathways, which has role in tissue differentiation and stem cell maintenance (Cilloni & Saglio, 2012; Zuo et al., 2015). Aberrant activation of this pathway has been observed in several carcinomas including cholangiocarcinoma (El Khatib et al., 2013; Zuo et al., 2015). Hh pathway is known to crosstalk and regulate autophagy, which is a lysosomal degradation process involved in the regulation of several metabolic processes, organelle turnover and cellular homeostasis [1-5]. Although some studies indicated that aberrant Hh signaling pathway and autophagy activation is observed in chemoresistance and, there is no study showing the crosstalk between Hh pathway and autophagy in the context of CCA [2,6]. There is only one study which shows expression of Hh pathway components and markers of autophagy in the Primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC) patients but the link between Hh pathway and autophagy pathway has not been studied until now [7].

1.1. Anatomy of Liver and Biliary Tract

For a full understanding of the development and pathogenesis of CCA, it is essential to understand the anatomy of liver and biliary tract. Liver is an essential organ, playing a role in metabolism, homeostasis and systemic immunity regulation [8,9]. It is composed of parenchymal and non-paranchymal cells including hepatocytes, liver sinusoidal endothelial cells, as well as hepatic stellate cells and resident immune cells. Hepatoblasts are bipotent liver progenitors, which differentiate into hepatocytes and cholangiocytes [10]. While hepatoblasts differentiate into hepatocytes in the liver parenchyma, they give rise to cholangiocytes in the periportal area. For that reason, hepatoblasts require periportal area in order to differentiate into cholangiocytes [11]. Hepatocytes are polarized epithelial cells and they are the most predominant type of cells in the liver [12]. Cholangiocytes are another type of epithelial cells that play a role in supporting and determining biliary secretions [13,14]. While the lineage specification in the developmental stage of liver is studied, differentiation of hepatoblasts in the adult liver is still not properly described. During the differentiation of hepatoblast into hepatocytes, the hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) receptor, and c-Met are known to be involved but the underlying mechanism is still not known [15]. Notch and Wnt signaling pathways are also shown to be involved in differentiation of hepatoblasts. It is shown that the Notch1 and Notch2 receptors are expressed by jagged 1 interaction during hepatoblast activation in mouse and human biliary diseases, respectively. Notch2 cleavage is triggered when jagged 1 bind to Notch2 and this cleavage cause the translocation of this fragment into the nucleus [16,17]. The Notch signaling pathway is inhibited during hepatocyte regeneration by the ubiquitin ligase Numb and this pathway is also important for differentiation of hepatoblasts into cholangiocytes [17,18].

The biliary system is composed of two different parts, which are intrahepatic and extrahepatic parts. The intrahepatic part creates a network, which is bound by canals of Hering to the bile canaliculi. The extrahepatic duct system includes gallbladder in addition to hepatic, cystic and common bile ducts and transfer the bile from the liver to duodenum [19].

1.2. Primary Liver Cancers

According to the American Cancer Society, incidence of liver cancer has tripled after 1980 and deaths caused by liver cancer have multiplied by around 3% per year since 2000. It has been estimated that in USA, 42.030 new liver cancer cases will be diagnosed in 2019 and around 31.780 of them are expected to die [20].

Primary liver cancer includes several neoplasms, among which are hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), intrahepatic bile duct cancer (cholangiocarcinoma), hepatoblastoma, angiosarcoma and hemangiosarcoma [20].

1.2.1 Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC)

Th incidence rate of HCC has increased in the last 40 years and the mortality rate caused by this disease is still increasing in United States and Canada [21]. American Cancer Society estimates that three-fourths of liver cancer, which are expected to be observed in 2019, will be hepatocellular carcinoma [20]. HCC has been characterized by several growth patterns. The first type of HCC starts as a single tumor and enlarge over time. This type of disease spreads to the other liver part only at later stages. The second type of HCC begins as several small cancer nodules throughout the liver, not

only as a single tumor. This type of HCC is the most common type in US and it has generally been seen people with cirrhosis [20].

The development of HCC is generally triggered by oxidative stress, and inflammation, Hepatisis B Virus (HBV) and Hepatisis C Virus (HCV) infections, overconsumption of alcohol and tobacco products. In addition to that, diabetes and obesity are included in the risk factors for HCC [22-24]. In the underdeveloped countries without sanitation, the most common risk factor for HCC is chronic HBV [25, 26]. In several developed countries, non-alcoholic stearohepatisis (NASH) increases the risks factor that lead to the development of HCC since it induces fibrosis and cirrhosis [26-28]. Additionally, a mycotoxin, aflatoxin B causes mutations in DNA especially the TP53 gene, thus, decreasing the tumor suppressive function of p53 [26, 29]. Normally, the parent molecule of aflatoxin is not harmful but, the cytochrome p450 superfamily members convert it to mutagenic and carcinogenic intermediates [22, 29-33].

1.2.2 Cholangiocarcinoma (CCA)

Cholangiocarcinoma (CCA) is the second most common type of liver cancer after HCC. This disease is an epithelial cell carcinoma, which arises at several locations in the biliary tree and it also presents cholangiocyte differentiation markers [34,35].

1.2.2.1 Epidemiology of CCA

CCA is the second most common hepatic malignancy after HCC [36-39]. The incidence age for CCA is around 70 in most of the world especially in Western countries, and it affects both women and men but it is slightly more common in males compared to females [37, 40, 41]. CCA with its subgroups represents approximately 3% of malignancies in gastrointestinal system [37, 39, 42]. The incidence and mortality rates due to CCA vary depending on the geographical location and the incidence rate of CCA is higher in Eastern compared to Western countries [37].

1.2.2.2 Etiology

Even though the majority of cases of CCA are de novo, there are several other risk factors that trigger the development of CCA [43]. One of these risk factors is hepatobiliary flukes including *Opisthorchis viverrini* and *Clonorchis sinensis*, which are really common in East Asia, where the consumption of pickled, undercooked or raw fishes is high. In East Asia, the percentage of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma (iCCA)

is around 85 % of the primitive liver cancer in this area [44-48]. These parasites live in the bile duct and feed on biliary epithelial cells resulting in chronic inflammation, which is associated with an increased risk of CCA [49]. The relationship between hepatobiliary flukes and CCA has also been confirmed by animal studies [50, 51]. Primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC) is a common disease of chronic cholestatic liver and biliary tract and this disease is one of the well-known risk factors of CCA [52].Hepatolithiasis is another risk factor for CCA, which is characterized by the presence of gallstones in the bile ducts of liver. Hepatolithiasis is more common in Asia than Western countries [53-55]. The strong association between CCA and cholelithiasis especially choledocholithiasis and iCCA have also been revealed in studies conducted in different geographic locations [57-59]. Some malformations in congenital biliary tract including bile duct cysts and Caroli disease have been considered as important risk factor in CCA. These malformations are found in 10-15 % of CCA patient [60-62]. Moreover, increased incidence rates of CCA observed in obesity patient shows the relationship between CCA and metabolic syndrome [63, 64]. Increased leptin levels are also seen in obese patient and it is known to stimulate CCA cell growth [65]. In addition to that, HBV, HCV and cirrhosis are also well known risk factors for CCA [66, 67]. A lot of toxic and environmental factors which are nitrosamine, thorotrast, vinyl chlorides, asbestos, dioxins as well as food contaminations have a role in the development and the pathogenesis of the disease [43]. In addition to these factors, consumption of alcohol and tobacco products has been considered as risk factors for CCA.

The relationship between metabolic syndrome and iCCA development has been revealed. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) contributes to NASH progression by cirrhosis. After which, NASH promotes the development of iCCA due to fibrosis [68]. Moreover, the role of hypertension has also been studied as a risk factor but it exact role is still not clear.

1.2.2.3 Classification of CCA

According to anatomical location, CCA is classified as intrahepatic CCA (iCCA), perihilar CCA (pCCA) and distal CCA (dCCA) [69, 70].

a. Intrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma (iCCA)

Cholangiocarcinoma originating in the smaller bile duct branches of liver is known as intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma [71]. According to morphology and its growth pattern, iCCA has been classified into 4 types, which are mass-forming, periductal-infiltrating, superficial spreading and undefined iCCA [35, 72-74]. The superficial spreading and intraductal type of iCCA have been related to the best prognosis. However, periductal and mass-forming types have worse prognosis [35, 75]. In addition to that, mass-forming iCCA represent 78% of iCCA and it is a gray to grayish-white solid carcinoma, which appears as a mass lesion in the hepatic parenchyma. Mass-forming iCCA might be quite larger and fibrosis is really common in this type of iCCA. Periductal-infiltrating iCCA represents around 16% of iCCA. This type of iCCA is characterized by the extension of the carcinoma throughout the portal tracts, infiltrating into the hepatic parenchyma. Moreover, thickening and strictures in the affected bile ducts are observed in this type of iCCA. Lastly, intraductal growth is the most rarely seen type of iCCA, which is 6 % of all iCCA. While iCCAs arising from the intrahepatic small bile ducts or bile stem cells are generally mass-forming, those arising from intrahepatic larger bile ducts could be either periductal-infiltrating or intraductal growth [76-78]. In the previous studies, the poorest prognosis has shown to be in periductal and mass-forming iCCA [35].

b. Distal Cholangiocarcinoma (dCCA)

Distal cholangiocarcinoma (dCCA) is a type of extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma (eCCA) which start to form outside of the liver. The incidence age in this type of CCA is around 50-70 years [71, 79]. Histologically more than 90% of are well-differentiated [80].

c. Perihilar Cholangiocarcinoma (pCCA)

Like dCCA, perihilar (hilar) cholangiocarcinoma (pCCA) which is also known as Klatskin tumors is a type of extrahepatic CCA (eCCA). It has been classified based on its morphological growth into mass-forming, exophytic and intraductal types. Intraductal pCCA are also classified into subtypes as periductal infiltrating, which is the most common type of pCCA, mass pCCA and nodular pCCA. Intraductal tubulopapillary neoplasm is the most recently found type of pCCA with better prognosis compared to exophytic type of pCCA [35, 81].

1.2.2.4 Diagnosis and Treatment

iCCA is difficult to diagnose and treatment of iCCA is challenging. This carcinoma has been characterized by a malignant mass lesion in non-cirrhotic liver but this intrahepatic lesion solely is not enough to identify this type and further diagnostic steps are required for differentiation [35, 82]. During the diagnosis of iCCA, the probability of the malignancy has increased due to the existence of liver capsule retraction. Also, biliary dilatation in the vicinity of intrahepatic lesion increases the probability of the malignancy. Although positron emission tomography (PET) scan might be a good method to diagnose metastatic disease, most of CCAs are PET negative with ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose [35, 83, 84]. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computed tomography (CT) scans are correlated with low misdiagnosis compared to contrast-enhanced ultrasound [35, 85]. Carbohydrate antigen 19-9 (CA19-9) has been used as a serum biomarker for diagnosis of iCCA for a long time. However, better biomarkers for iCCA are necessary for better diagnosis and detection because CA19-9 levels also is elevated in different malignancies such as ovarian and colon tumors as well as benign biliary obstruction and cholangitis [35, 86].

Surgical candidacy of patient, biochemical characteristics and size of lesion have been taken into consideration to decide on an appropriate treatment option for iCCA. The tumor burden should be checked by imaging of the abdomen and chest in addition to lymph nodes, which are larger than 2 cm. Curative surgical resection achievements are around 30% in the patient with negative tumor margins which is the border of the tissue resected in surgery and if there is no cancer cells in the margin it is called as negative tumor margin [35, 36]. Poor outcomes have been observed in patients with positive tumour margins, portal hypertension, lymph node metastasis as well as cirrhosis [35, 36, 87]. On the contrary to pCCA, liver transplantation is not a recommended option for iCCA because after transplantation, there is 42-65% risk for recurrence even in the patients with mixed hepatocellular-cholangiocellular carcinomas [35, 88].

Since iCCA is a metastatic disease of liver, locoregional therapy has been considered as a palliative treatment approach but the effectiveness of this approach is still under question. There are also some limitations in the treatment of iCCA with radiofrequency ablation. Moreover, high tumor recurrence rates have been observed after this process [35, 89]. Although transarterial chemoembolisation (TACE) is not used in the iCCA therapy as a standardized method, it might increase the survival rates of iCCA patients [35, 89-91]. A phase III clinical study have analyzed 410 patients and the researchers observed that the median survival rates of these patients increased from 8.1 months to 11.7 months after receiving gemcitabine alone and cisplatin and gemcitabine combination, respectively. Moreover, 80 of these patients with good outcomes are iCCA which indicates a backbone for further studies in iCCA treatment [92]. In addition to these, radiation therapy is used for iCCA treatment and intra-arterial usage of radioactive ⁹⁰Y in the radiotherapy has been reported for iCCA [35, 91]. Till now, several studies have focused on targeting molecular aberrations in iCCA but there are no approved targeted therapies for iCCA treatment (Table 1).

Molecular Aberrations	Inhibitors	References
FGFR2 fusion (45 %)	FGFR small molecule kinase inhibitors	[42, 367-370]
IDH 1 /2 (23-28%)	Mutant IDH inhibitors	[169, 371, 372, 42, 170]
BAP1 (9%), ARID1A (36 %)	HDAC inhibitors	[42, 373]
Mcl-1 (16-21%)	Mcl-1 selective inhibitors	[42, 373]
KRAS (11-25%)	MEK inhibitors	[42, 374]
PI3K-AKT-mTOR (4-8 %)	AKT inhibitors, mTOR inhibitors	[42, 375]

Table 1.2.2.4.1 Molecular aberrations and potential inhibitors in iCCA

The main symptoms of dCCA are obstructive jaundice, abdominal pain, as well as cholangitis [94]. Increased cholestatic parameters are also observed in the blood tests of dCCA patients [95, 96]. Although different tumor markers including CA19-9 and/or carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) have been used to diagnose dCCA but specificity and sensitivity of these markers are moderate [97]. Also, extrahepatic bile duct thickening and/or stricture are used for dCCA diagnosis. CT and MRI with magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (MRCP) are useful for detection of tumor burden. An important therapeutic tool, ERC, and intraductal ultrasonography aid in diagnosis of dCCA. Moreover, for the proper analyses of lymph node metastasis and vascular structures, endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) with fine needle aspiration (FNA) is useful techniques. There are still doubts about the function of intraductal visualization with cholangioscopy in dCCA diagnosis [95, 96].

Molecular Aberrations	Inhibitors	References
ERBB2/ERBB3 (11-14%)	EGFR inhibitors	[42, 373, 376, 377]
KRAS (58-68%)	MEK inhibitors	[42, 373, 378]
PI3K-AKT-mTOR (4%)	HDAC inhibitors	[375, 379]

Table 1.2.2.4.2 Molecular aberrations and potential inhibitors in dCCA

Size, location and morphology of tumor as well as, involvement of lymph nodes and portal vein and metastasis can be described well if endoscopic ultrasonography and cross-sectional imaging studies are performed carefully. However, the number of imaging technique studies for detection of pCCA and quality of the available techniques are moderate [35, 98, 99]. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computed tomography (CT) scan techniques are used to detect perihilar mass. Magnetic resonance cholangiography (MRC) provides better description of the extent of the bile duct lesion. Usage of MRI and MRC together improves the sensitivity and accuracy of diagnosis [35,100]. Lymph node fine-needle aspiration, which is a type of biopsy procedure, is another precious method for pCCA diagnosis. Increased CA 19-9 serum levels alone are not effective diagnostic criteria for pCCA, that's why, serum levels of Immunoglobulin G4 (IgG4) should also be checked to obtain IgG4-related cholangiopathy [35,101].

In the treatment of pCCA, liver transplantation together with neoadjuvant chemoradiation is a good option, but most of the patients do not have the necessary criteria, which are 3 cm unresectable tumor or less radial diameter without metastases [35, 102].

If surgery of liver transplantation is not an option for the patient, gemcitabine and cisplatin combination therapy has been taken into consideration in the treatment of pCCA but efficiency of this combination therapy is not significantly higher than gemcitabine alone so there is no standard treatment for pCCA [92]. Metal stents can be a palliative option for pCCA treatment if the life expectancy of the patient is lower than 4-6 months [35,103-105]. Additionally, endoscopic intraductal radiofrequency ablation has been considered as another palliative therapy for pCCA [35, 106].

Molecular Aberrations	Inhibitors	References
EGFR/HER2 (4-25%)	EGFR inhibitors	[42, 373, 381]
Protein kinase A (PKA) pathway (10%)	Small molecule PKA inhibitor	[42, 380]

Table 1.2.2.4.3 Molecular aberrations and potential inhibitors in pCCA

1.2.2.5 Pathogenesis of CCA

There are multiple factors which contributes pathogenesis of CCA. One of them is cancer stem cells (CSCs) in CCA. The correlation between the presence of cancer stem cell markers, which are SOX2, CD133, CD90 and CD13 and poor diagnosis of CCA have been revealed in the previous studies [107-109]. Most of cancer stem cells of CCA express epithelial-mesencymal transition (EMT) markers and contribute to chemoresistance, desmoplasticity as well as aggressiveness of this cancer [40, 110,111]. In the previous studies, the cells expressing CD133 were shown to resist chemotherapy and also, recurrence of tumor has been observed in these cells. In addition to that, the relationship between CD44 and vascular invasion in CCA cells also indicate the importance of stem cells in the pathogenesis of CCA [107]. Some of these stem cell markers, which are leucine-rich repeat-containing G-protein coupled receptor 5 (LGR5), CD133 and epithelial cellular adhesion molecule (EpCAM) are also expressed by normal stem cells localized in liver and biliary tree but chronic damage of liver activates and expand these compartments [112,113]. Additionally, tumor microenvironment (TME) consisting of cancer associated mocarophages (CAMs), cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs) and vascular cells, which all constitute the cancer stem cell niche, contributes to stemness and resistance to chemotherapy [110,114,40,111]. Inflammation is one of the key factors in CCA pathogenesis [39,112,113]. Inflammation and cholestasis support tumor formation by creating an environment in which several mechanisms are aberrated including DNA repair proteins, enzymes, tumor suppressor genes and proto-oncogenes [115]. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) is one of the key cytokines, which is also a mitogen, involved in CCA pathogenesis and is known to affect proliferation of CCA cells [116,117]. Also, IL-6 inhibits telomere shortening by increasing telomerase activity in CCA cell, which contributes to the escape from cell senescence [117-121]. Crosstalk between IL-6 and other pathways has been shown in the previous studies. IL-6 causes the overexpression of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and the inhibition of EGFR signaling, which stimulate a decrease in CCA proliferation [117,122,123]. EGFR is known to increase cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) expression, which has role in CCA development by promoting growth and survival of CCA cells [124-127]. Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) is a mediator of COX-2 induction. iNOS induces COX-2 expression in immortalized CCA, not in nonmalignant cells and this might suggest a relationship between iNOS and COX-2 expression in CCA development [128]. In addition to these factors, overexpression of mitogenic hepatocyte growth factor and its receptor results in sustainable induction of cell growth in CCA [117,129].

A variety of somatic mutations in oncogenes like KRAS, chromatin modifying genes including PBMR1 and BAP1 and tumor suppressor genes like TP53 and SMAD4 has also been identified in CCA. Whereas BAP1 and IDH1/2 mutations have been commonly observed in non-liver fluke associated CCA, TP53 and SMAD4 mutations are more frequent in liver fluke associated CCA [130-133]. Mutations observed in oncogenic pathway components' genes are shown to be found in CCA [132,134]. Additionally, gene fusions have been identified in CCA. Fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGFR2) fusion protein formations, found in up to 45% of iCCA, is an example of these fusions [132, 136, 137]. Overexpression of IL-6R, c-MET and EGFR, transactivation between receptors (MET/EGFR and COX-2/IL-6), and inactivation of feedback mechanisms causes dysregulation of apoptosis, cell cycle and proliferation [132].

Many hormones and growth factors have anti-apoptotic effect on neoplastic cholangiocytes and promote cell proliferation [40,137].Overexpression of estrogen receptors, which are estrogen receptor α (ER- α) and estrogen receptor- β (ER- β), is detected in CCA and renders CCA sensitive to estrogen [40,138]. It is shown that activation of ER- α promote cell proliferation in CCA, whereas ER- β stimulation results in anti-neoplasticity by the induction of apoptosis [40, 139]. The inhibition of CCA growth has been demonstrated by the administration of tamoxifen and KB9520, which are ER antagonist and ER- β -selective agonist, respectively [40,140]. Additionally, stimulation of VEGF and IL-6 by estrogens has been shown in CCA studies [40,141,142]. Estrogens modulate CCA growth and development by cooperating with insulin-like growth factor 1 and insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor [143].

Unlike HCC, CCA has been characterized by a desmoplastic TMEtme, which includes several types of cells and some extracellular components supporting and promoting the progression of the tumor [144,145]. The patient survival can be estimated by checking the tumor-infiltrating cell composition of CCA. Poor prognosis of CCA patients, gemcitabine resistance and decrease of survival are associated with the increase of the innate immune response components comprising the tumor associated neutrophils (TANs) and TAs in addition to the lack of adaptive immune response, which includes CD4+ and CD8+ [145,146].

Tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) are known to be a key component of TME and they are involved in supporting the initiation and growth of tumor with the help of CSCs [145, [145,148]. Polarization of macrophages to M2 state, which is tumor promoting has been related to poor prognosis and metastasis of CCA [40,148,149]. Additionally, TAMs are known to modulate TME and support EMT as well as metastasis and tumor growth by secreting tumor promoting factors such as, tumor necrosis α (TNF- α), Interleukin 10 (IL10), IL-6, transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) and vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGFA) [145,150]. C-X-C Motif Chemokine Ligand 5 (CXCL5) signaling controls neutrophil recruitment in CCA inducing migration by phosphoinositide 3-kinases/AKT (PI3K-AKT) and mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) pathways [145,151].

TME is known to inhibit acquired immune response, which includes activation of cytotoxic response with the help of CD8+ and CD4+ T cells thorough limiting infiltration of T cells, decreasing antigen presentation and leading to activation of lymphocyte. Although tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) including CD4+, CD8+ and FoxP3+ has been related to good outcomes in CCA, TILs have been involved in TME modulation, which is correlated with chemoresistance in CCA and escaping the immune system [145,146].

TNF- α , which is a pro-inflammatory cytokine promoting apoptotic cell death has been considered as a pro-tumorigenic mediator together with nuclear factor kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B). Expression of TNF- α by Kupffer cells and macrophages in TME has an important role in CCA progression and invasion [145,152,153]. Soluble and/or transmembrane (tm) forms of TNF- α can either bind to TNFR1 receptor or TNFR2 receptor. Despite TNFR-associated death signaling domain, these two receptors could stimulate tumor-promoting signals and contribute to tumor progression [145, 152,154,155]. TGF- β has a dual role in CCA progression. Although overexpression of TGF- β has resulted in poor prognosis, metastasis and recurrence in CCA, tumor suppressor properties of TGF- β has shown an inhibition of tumor at the early stages of CCA [77, 145, 156-158].

1.2.2.6 Molecular Aberrations in CCA

CCA pathogenesis is related to alterations in DNA repair mechanisms (TP53), epigenetic changes (IDH1 and IDH2). In addition to that, some signaling pathways are dysregulated in this malignancy for example the WNT-CTNNB1 signaling pathway, tyrosine kinase signaling, protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTPN3) [40, 16, 131, 133, 136, 151, 159-163].

Alterations in PTEN, a tumor suppressor gene, with the activation of AKT or mTOR have been shown to be associated with poor outcomes in microaaray analysis of 221 eCCA patient but good outcomes have been reported in iCCA patient [35, 164,165].

Formation of the fusion gene products some of which are FGFR2- TXLNA, GFFR2-BICC1 and FGFR2-TACC3 have been highlighted in CCA [40, 162, 166]. These fusions trigger fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR) kinase activation resulting in changes in cell morphology and an increase in cell proliferation [40]. Suppression of FGFR fusion protein's oncogenic ability both *in vitro* and *in vivo* by different FGFR kinase inhibitors including pazopanib and BGJ398 has been considered as a promising therapy for CCA in different studies [40, 167].

Survival advantages can be acquired by epigenetic changes. Hot-spot mutations in IDH1 and IDH2 genes have been connected to development of iCCA [35, 168-170]. These genes have drawn attention to CCA because 2-hydroxyglutarate, the product of IDH1 and IDH2 can be used as a biomarker detected in the serum of CCA patients [35, 171]. Inhibition of gain of function mutations in IDH genes has been shown to cause the dysregulating hepatocyte nuclear factor 4α , which blocks the differentiation of hepatocytes and promotes CCA [35, 40, 170, 172, 173].

Moreover, overexpression of histone deacetylase 6 (HDAC6) has been shown in CCA. This promotes an increase in proliferation followed by primary cilium shortening.

The targeting of HDAC in CCA causes decrease in cell proliferation and restoring of the primary cilium [40, 174].

Besides genetic aberrations, CCA pathogenesis can be controlled by aberrant signaling pathways including Ras-MAPK, PI3K/AKT/mTOR, Notch and Hedgehog (Hh) pathways [175-180]

Ras-MAPK pathway has been reported as an important pathway for CCA development. One study has shown that the poor outcomes and clinicopathological traits were obtained with integrative molecular analysis technique in 119 iCCA patient [35, 178]. In the same study, proliferation and inflammatory classes were identified as gene signature classes. In the inflammatory class, they observed cytokine overexpression and activation of both STAT3 and inflammatory signaling pathways, while they characterized the proliferation class by oncogenic pathway activation and KRAS and BRAF mutations. They also showed that different copy number variations in a lot of oncogenes in the proliferation class representing 62 % of iCCA patient. The proteins, which are encoded by these oncogenes, are the members of RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK signaling cascade stimulating cell proliferation or PI3K-AKT-mTOR signaling promoting survival. The second class, inflammatory class has been shown to stimulate the inflammatory pathways resulting in cytokine and transcriptional factor STAT3 overexpression, thus, modulating growth and survival of cell, which are observed in several carcinomas [35, 178-181].

Notch signaling is another important signaling pathway controlling cell-fate determination during embryonic development of many organs including the biliary tree. In addition to that, it has been involved in CCA development and progression [183,184]. Dysregulation of Notch is related to inflammation and carcinogenesis. The interaction between Notch ligands and their receptors activates the pathway by promoting γ -secretase-dependent Notch receptor cleavage and the release of Notch intracellular domain [183,185]. Activation of Notch pathway differentiates mature adult hepatocytes into iCCA precursors in different preclinical models [35, 186,187]. In addition to those pathways, autophagy pathway is also dysregulated in CCA.

1.2.3 Autophagy in CCA

Recently, CCA cells have been shown to modulate autophagy as a survival and escape mechanism and the detection of high expression of autophagy genes and proteins indicates the importance of autophagy in terms of CCA pathogenesis [188]. Autophagy, which is literally known as self-eating is a lysosomal degradation process that plays a key role in protein and organelle turnover. Autophagy has several physiological and pathophysiological functions. It has an extremely important function in maintaining homeostasis. Autophagy creates different molecular building blocks including amino acids, fatty acids, and nucleotides and they are recycled to bio-energetic pathways after their release into the cytosol [189-191]. Autophagy is involved in many pathological conditions including neurodegenerative diseases such as Huntington disease, Parkinson disease as well as Alzheimer disease and hereditary muscle diseases. Moreover, it can induce or maintain tumor growth depending on tissue or cellular conditions [1, 2, 4, 5, 170, 192-195].

The rate of autophagy is low under normal conditions but it is activated in some physiological conditions such as stress and starvation or chemically by rapamycin and trehalose [2, 3, 195]. Autophagy is a really complex process and several proteins are involved in autophagy. A family of proteins, which are known as 'AuTophaGy-related' (ATG) proteins have been identified in the Saccharomyces cerevisiae and these proteins are recruited hierarchically and regulate autophagic steps [2, 196]. The autophagy pathway is comprised of different stages, which are induction, autophagosome nucleation, elongation and completion, lysosomal fusion and degradation [2, 197]. The first steps of autophagy are the induction and nucleation of the membrane forming autophagosome that is called an isolation membrane or phagophore. In the elongation step, the newly formed membrane grows and fuses the edge of the membrane resulting in formation of double membrane vacuole called autophagosome. Fusion of the mature autophagosome with the lysosome creates autolysosome structure termed autophagolysosome. In the final step, acid hydrolases degrade the luminal content in the autophagolysosomes and acid hydrolases are recycled by permeases [2, 198-200].

Two regulators of autophagy are mTORC1, mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1, and AMPK (AMP-activated protein kinase) in eukaryotic cells and both of them control induction phase of autophagy [2, 200]. mTORC1 consist of mTOR,

mammalian target of rapamycin, Raptor, mTOR's regulatory associated protein, mLST8, mammalian Lethal-with-Sec-Thirteen 8, as well as Deptor, DEP-domain containing mTOR inretacting protein, PRAS40, proline rich Akt substrate of 40-kDA, and FKBP38, FK-506 binding protein 38 [2,201]. Growth factors, stress signals, amino acids, as well as, glucose and energy status are up-stream signals, which are collected by MTORC1 pathway [2, 202]. mTORC1 is an important down-stream target of PI3K/Akt pathway and this pathway is shown to be activated in several malignancies [2, 203-205]. After activation, mTORC1 transduce anti-autophagic signals by binding to ULK, UNC52-like kinase multi protein complex, which is consisting of ATG101, FIP200, focal adhesion kinase family-interacting protein of 200 kDA, as well as ATG13 and the Ser/Thr protein kinase ULK1 (or ULK2) and this complex has key role in phagophore formation. ULK1 and ATG13 are directly phosphorylated by mTORC1 resulting in downregulation of autophagy [206-209]. ULK1 is also involved in the autophagy independent regulation of mTORC1 since it is a target of AKT and it can be modulated by insulin stimulation [2,210]. Additionally, dissociation of mTORC1 from ULK1/ULK2 complex results in ULK1/ULK2 formation and phosphorylation of ATG13 and FIP200, which is important for autophagic activity. This dissociation has been activated by nutrient deprivation and mTORC1 inhibition pharmacologically such as treatment with rapamycin [189, 2, 211, 212]. Phosphorylation of Raptor by ULK1/ULK2 at several sites causes inhibition of mTORC1. The aim of this negative feedback by autophagy activation is maintaining mTORC1 inhibition in nutrient limited conditions [2, 214]. AMPK also serves as intracellular energy sensor and it has been activated by LKB1, the tumor suppressor liver kinase B1, resulting in downregulation of ATP-consuming processes and upregulation of ATP-creating process [2, 4]. AMPK upregulates the activity of ULK1 by directly phosphorylating multiple sites of ULK1 indicating the importance of AMPK in regulation of autophagy [2, 213]. In the nucleation step, formation of autophagosome membrane requires the recruitment of proteins and lipids and the formation of Beclin-1 core complex by Beclin-1, the class III PI3K/hVps34, and p150/hVps15 [2, 214-216]. Moreover, activation of Beclin-1 core complex forms PI-3 phosphate, which promotes the nucleation of autophagosomal membrane. Direct interaction between Beclin-1 and its binding partners cause either activation of autophagy by ATG14L, autophagy and Beclin 1 regulator 1 (AMBRA1) or UV radiation resistance-associated gene (UVRAG) but binding of Bcl-2, Bcl-xL or Mcl-1 cause inhibition of autophagy [2, 217, 218]. The phases of vesicle elongation and completion are controlled by two ubiquitin-like systems. The first system consisting of ATG7 and ATG3, which controls lipid modification such as lipid PE, phosphatidylethanolamine, of Light Chain 3 (LC3) and lipidation of LC3 which step need initial LC3 cleavage by ATG4B protease [2, 219]. Unlipidated LC3, which is LC3-I, is generally cytosolic. Lipidation results in conversion of LC3-I to LC3-II which is related to autophagosome membrane [2, 189, 219]. LC3 recruits cargo proteins and organelles into the autophagosome together with p62 and NBR1, neighbor of BRCA1 gene 1 protein [2, 220]. Conversion of LC3-1 to LC3-II as well as presence of LC3 in autophagosomes is used as autophagy markers [2, 197]. The second system is consisting of ATG7 and ATG10 regulating ATG12 to ATG5 conjugation. Effective promotion of LC3 lipidation requires membrane binding with the help of Atg12-Atg5-Atg16L complex. It is shown that Atg12 conjugation negatively affect the binding of Atg5, however, Atg16 activates it. Promotion of Atg8 lipidation requires membrane binding with the help of Atg12-Atg5-Atg16 complex [2, 189, 221]. After that, fusion of autophagosomes with lysosomes forms autophagolysosomes in which engulfed content is degraded and recycled [2, 189, 216]. Autophagy can be terminated by reactivation of mTORC1 by nutrients. This is an important feedback mechanism, which inhibits autophagy activation during starvation [2].

Regulation of cancer by autophagy is still under question and whether autophagy cause cell death or survival is still unknown. Considering the tumor suppressor and promoting effects of autophagy, it looks like a paradox. Additionally, there are some studies indicating that the knock-down of autophagy related genes either cause or prevents cancer cell death [222]. Dual role of autophagy paradox can be enlightened if the role of autophagy in different steps of tumorigenesis is understood. The basal autophagy might prevent initiation of carcinogenesis and serves as tumor suppressor. Actually, autophagy removes damaged organelles including mitochondria, which potentially produces reactive oxygen species (ROS) in high amounts and decrease probability of genomic instability and inflammation, thus, causing the initiation of cancer. Impaired autophagy has been related to high DNA damage, and aneuploidy. Moreover, increased levels of ROS and aberrant p62/SQSTM1 and ER chaperone accumulation are associated with autophagy dysregulation. These factors indicate a key role of autophagy in tumor suppression [2, 223]. On the contrary, autophagy could serve as a pro-survival mechanism. Upregulation of autophagy has been observed in

carcinomas depending on stress such as radiotherapy, chemotherapy, deprivation of nutrient and growth factors as well as hypoxia and DNA damage [2, 224]. In these situations, autophagy is used as an escape mechanism from death stimuli and it helps carcinomas to manage metabolic stress [2, 224-227]. Considering abovementioned information, targeting and inhibiting autophagy selectively could be a potential therapeutic agent restoring chemosensitivity and it can stimulate cell death. Autophagy can be inhibited by some autophagy inhibitors such as chloroquine and hydroxycholroquine which are approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for clinical usage [228] (Table 1).

Name of the Inhibitor	Target	References
Nocodazole	autophagosome-lysosome	[229-231]
	fusion	
Ammonium chloride	autolysosome formation	[232]
Hydroxychloroquine	inhibit lysosomal acidification and prevent	[233-235]
	the degradation of autophagosomes	
Chloroquine	Lysosome	[235, 237, 238]
3-Methyyladenine	Autophagosome formation	[236]
Wortmannin	Autophagosome formation	[236, 239]
LY294002	Autophagosome formation	[236, 240]
SBI-0206965	Autophagosome formation	[233, 241]
Spautin-1	Autophagosome formation	[233, 242-244]
SAR405	Autophagosome formation	[233]
NSC185058	Autophagosome formation	[233]
Verteporfin	Autophagosome formation and	[245, 246]
	accumulation	
ROC325	Lysosome	[247, 248]
Lys05	Lysosome	[233, 249, 250, 251, 252]

Table 1.2.2.7.1 Autophagy Inhibitors

As mentioned before, one of the most important aberrant pathways in CCA is the PI3K/AKT/mTOR, which is activated in nearly 80% of eCCA patients and 60% of iCCA patients [177, 253]. That's why, targeting of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway might be a good option for CCA treatment. Inflammatory environment stimulates this pathway in CCA. It has been shown that cytokines, CXCL5 growth factor as well as VEGF and leukemia initiating factor (LIF) controls the PI3K/AKT/mTOR activation, which is associated with poor prognosis in CCA patients [177, 143, 151, 254-256]. Considering sensitization of CCA patients to chemotherapy by the PI3K/AKT/mTOR inhibition, autophagy can be suggested as an escape mechanism in CCA by

chemoresistance. Some combinational therapies comprising autophagy and mTOR inhibitors are used to overcome this [254, 257]. Clinical trials using autophagy inhibitors in combination therapies result is promising outcomes. Thus, a better understanding of autophagic pathway and the crosstalk between autophagy and other pathways might increase the efficiency of treatments in CCA [2].

1.2.4 Hedgehog Pathway

One of these pathways crosstalking with autophagy is Hh pathway. Firstly, Wieschaus and Nussland-Volhard described this evolutionary conserved pathway and they got Nobel Prize in 1980 using *Drosophila melanogaster*. This pathway is known to play significant roles in several cell-determining processes during embryogenesis and development as well as maintenance of stem cells and polarity and differentiation of tissues [258, 259, 260, 261]. In many studies, dysregulation of the Hh pathway is shown to function as oncogenic driver in several carcinomas like hematologic malignancies, glioblastoma, pancreatic cancer, and CCA [175, 260]. Hh pathway can be manipulated by inhibitors. There are some clinical trials for the Smo inhibitor, vismodegib and saridegib [262, 263]. FDA approved another Smo inhibitor, vismodegib, for unresectable or metastatic basal cell carcinomas of the skin treatment [263, 264]. In another study, it is shown that vismodegib decrease the migratory ability and invasion of cancer cells *in vivo* [2].

There are three identified subgroups of Hh which are Sonic Hh (Shh), Indian Hh (Ihh) and Desert Hh (Dhh) [265].

1.2.4.1 Canonical Hh Pathway

Four major components of Hh pathway in *Drosophila melanogaster* are Hh (the ligand), patched (the receptor), smoothened (the signal transducer) and Gli, which is the effector transcription factor. This signaling pathway controls many target genes such as, *Ptch1* and *Gli1* [266].

Primary cilium (PC), which is a small immoveable cilium, consisting of polymerized tubulin is required for the canonical Hh pathway in mammals [267,268]. The PC is essential for the activation of Hh pathway. It regulates the entrance and exit of components of Hh pathway from primary cilium to the nucleus [268, 269].

Hh ligand is a morphogen and it is secreted by many cells [268, 270]. Hh is produced as a 45 kDa precursor protein with N- and C-terminal domains. After formation of N-terminal domain (Hh-N) by cleavage, this newly formed fragment is prenylated [268]. This prenylation, which is also known as lipidation, is crucial for the function of Hh-N domain [268, 269]. This hydrophobicity helps Hh to diffuse into the extracellular matrix [268, 271].

Unlike several membrane spanning receptors, Hh receptor, the 12-pass transmembrane protein patched (Ptch) could block the activity of Hh pathway. In the absence of Hh ligand, Ptch constitutively inhibits the Hh pathway by negatively affecting Smo (downstream effector of smoothened) [268, 272]. Binding of Hh to Ptch repress Ptch by preventing inhibitory effect on Smo thereby it allows signaling by the pathway [268, 269]. When Hh connects to Ptch, this complex is internalized and degraded [268, 273]. Two forms of Ptch which are Ptch-1 and Ptch-2 exist in mammalian cells, Ptch-1 is more expressed and more critical than Ptch-2 for the activity of Hh pathway [268, 274]. For the activation of the pathway, Hh has to bind to coreceptors, which are CAM-related downregulated by oncogenes (Cdo), brother of Cdo (Boc) and growth arrest-specific (GAS)-1 to enhance the connection between Hh and Ptch [268, 275]. Hedgehog interacting protein (Hip) conversely affects binding of Hh to Ptch by binding to Hh and blocking Hh-Ptch binding and negatively regulating the Hh pathway [268, 276]. A 7-pass transmembrane G protein-coupled receptor (Smo) serves as a signal transducer for Hh signaling pathway, which is used as a target for Hh pathway modulation. Smo is blocked by Ptch to enter the PC in the absence of Hh and it is localized in the intra cytoplasmic vesicles [268, 277]. Binding of Hh-Ptch allows Smo to enter the PC [268, 278].

Gli transcription factors belonging to the Kruppel-like family involve a zincfinger DNA-binding domain [268, 279]. Gli-1, Gli-2 and Gli-3 are the types of Gli proteins found in mammals. In the absence of Hh ligand, Smo binds to a suppressor protein complex consisting of Fu (fused kinase), SuFu (suppressor of fused) and Cos (Costal-2). Since Smo is inactivated, Gli cannot enter the nucleus [268, 280]. When Smo is activated, Gli-2 functions as transcription enhancer inducing Gli-1 expression [268, 281]. In addition to that Gli-1 degradation is promoted by AMPK mediated phosprylation of Gli-1 [282, 283]. Additionally, Smo activation might result in dissociation of Gli. After that, Gli moves back to cytoplasm and goes into nucleus. This causes the transcription of many genes such as VEGF, a-smooth muscle actin (a-SMA), Nanog, Sox-2, Sox-9 as well as IL-6 [268, 284, 285].

1.2.4.2 Non-canonical Hh Pathway

Two types of non-canonical Hh pathway have been studied which are Ptchdependent but Smo independent (type 1) and Smo-dependent but Hh ligand and Ptchindependent (type 2). Apoptosis by caspase-3 activation might be triggered through Ptch in type 1 signaling in the absence of Hh ligand [268, 286]. Additionally, Patch-1 could prevent proliferation through cyclin D nuclear localization in the absence of Hh ligands [268, 287]. Teperino et al. showed that Smo could trigger a Warburg-like effect, which promote glycolytic metabolism in adipose and muscle tissues by a calcium-AMPK kinase axis [268, 280].

1.2.4.3 Crosstalk between Hh and Other Pathways

As a member of complex signaling network, Hh pathway crosstalks with other signaling pathways including TGF- β and WNT and orchestrate cellular response in Hh-responsive cells in the liver [288-290]. Members of Gli family modulate transcription of TGF- β target genes including SNAIL, and regulate WNT signaling by modulating Wnt5a and soluble frizzled receptor-1 [291]. Indian Hh downregulation activates WNT signaling by APC mutation and contribute to colorectal tumorigenesis [292, 293]. Hh signaling is upstream to WNT and it negatively regulating WNT signaling by frizzled-related protein 1 (SFRP1). Dysregulation of the balance between these two pathways is a crucial factor in tumorigenesis. For example, increased level of Hh molecules is detected in squamous cell carcinoma of the uterine cervix but, SRP1 expression is downregulated in the same carcinoma. This shows that WNT and Hh pathways are differentially activated in this carcinoma [292]. The same results have also been shown in gastric carcinoma. The Sonic Hh pathway components are high in gastric carcinoma, however, expression of WNT signaling molecules is low [292, 294].

Additionally, Gli transcription factor accumulation is regulated by different ligands [290, 295]. Insulin-like growth factor inhibits Gli1 phosphorylation in PKA dependent manner in Hh-responsive cells. This results in the prevention of proteosomal degradation of Gli by glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3) and activation of Hh pathway [290, 296].

Gli activity is also enhanced by activation of receptor kinases including EGFR and Platelet Derived Growth Factor Receptor Alpha and their downstream effectors, such as RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK and PI3K/AKT signaling [297, 302]. Hh and PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway crosstalk has been studied in several carcinomas such as chronic myeloid leukemia [299, 232]. Hh is known to inhibit autophagy by negatively affecting the phosphorylated extracellular signal-regulated kinases including eukaryotic transcription factor alpha (pERK- eIF2 α) [3, 128, 303, 263]. Down-regulation of Gli trigger autophagy through regulation of mTOR phosphorylation by ERK1/2 (Sun et al., 2014). Inhibition of Hh is shown to cause autophagy induction in neuroblastoma and pancreatic cancer [304, 305, 5].

Hh is shown to regulate autophagy by activation of Gli transcription, which is controlled by PI3K/AKT/mTOR [177, 304]. PI3K/AKT/mTOR axis is also shown to regulate activity of Gli by PP2A (protein phosphatase 2A), serving as mTOR complex antagonist [306, 206]. Additionally, it has been shown that the PI3K/AKT and the MEK/ERK pathways crosstalk support EMT, angiogenesis as well as metastasis by activation of Gli [299, 306].

1.2.4.4 Hh Pathway in Pathogenesis of CCA

It is known that, Hh ligands and cholangiocyte-derived Hh ligands are synthesized and secreted by cholangiocytes during liver fibrosis. Hh signaling is involved in the dysfunctional repair promotion and causes fibrogenesis, carcinogenesis and hepatic inflammation [290]. Hh is well documented factor in pathogenesis of several solid tumors. Hh signaling is also involved in the survival and growth signal regulation in cholangiocytes indicating the key role of Hh pathway in CCA carcinogenesis [93,307]. El Khatib et al showed that Hh is activated in 50% of human CCA samples. The activation of Hh ligand by fibrosis induces tumorigenesis in CCA. Additionally, Hh pathway inhibition is shown to attenuate CCA carcinogenesis and stimulate necrosis of CCA cells [175, 261]. The key role of noncanonical Hh pathway is shown to be inhibited by cyclopamine. For example, it inhibits the expression of PTCH1 and cause cell cycle arrest in breast cancer cells [261, 6, 35].

CCA cells are shown to express TRIAL which induces apoptosis through its receptors, death receptor 4 (DR4) and death receptor 5 (DR5), binding. It is also shown that Hh signaling pathway directly controls mRNA and protein levels of polo-like

kinase 2, polo-like kinase 2 promotes stabilization of Mcl-1 and regulates cell death resistance by TRIAL in CCA [309].

Dense despolastic stroma is characteristic of CCA and cancer-associated myofibroblasts (MFBs) are the main component of the stroma [161, 310]. MFBs have key role in CCA carcinogenesis by promoting cell proliferation, migration and invasion. Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-BB is an MFB-derived survival factor, which stimulates TRIAL cytotoxicity of CCA cells. This resistance is controlled by trafficking of SMO to the cytoplasm [309].

80% of human cancers highly express serine/threonine kinase polo-like kinase (PLK) [311, 312]. Gli1 and Gli2 transcription factors bind to PLK2 promoter, thus, Hh signaling is directly involved in regulation of PLK2 expression [309].

Although some studies have indicated that aberrant Hh signaling and autophagy activation promotes resistance to chemotherapy, there is no current study indicating this in CCA [2, 6]. Caprino et al, have just demonstrated expression of Hh and autophagy markers by PSC patients but they did not study the crosstalk between Hh and autophagy [7].

The Hh pathway is a really complex pathway and it crosstalks with multiple other pathways for that reason, Hh pathway targeting alone is challenging and did not show many promising results. Additionally, activation of autophagy by Hh pathway serves as survival and escape mechanism in the context of CCA. Moreover, the crosstalk between Hh and autophagy pathways requires better understanding in the context of CCA pathogenesis. Considering these challenges in the sole targeting of Hh pathway and the correlation between autophagy and Hh pathway, we propose a combinational targeted therapy for both autophagy and Hh pathway as a good treatment option to be able to abrogate CCA.
2. MATERIAL AND METHOD

2.1 Maintenance of cells

Two different type of CCA cells, which are TFK-1 and EGI-1 were chosen to perform the experiments on.

TFK-1and EGI-1 cell lines were obtained from the German National Resource Center for Biological Material (DSMZ), and they were cultured under the recommended conditions.Both cell lines were cultured in RPMI medium (Sigma, cat. no. R8758) supplemented with 10 % FBS and 100 U/mL penicilin/streptomycin at 37 C in 5% CO₂ incubator.

TFK-1 cells were seeded out as $20X10^6$ cells /10 mL and EGI-1 cells were seeded out $10X10^6$ cells/ 20cm². The confluent cultures of both EGI-1 and TFK-1 were splitted 1:2 every 2 days using trypsin/EDTA. For trypsinization, 1X trypsin (10 min for TFK-1 and 25 min for EGI-1) was used after washing the cells with 1X PBS. After trypsinization step, the cells were collected with culture medium in order to inactivate trypsin enzyme and centrifuged at 900 rpm for 5 min. The pellet was dissolved with fresh media and the cells were seeded out into corning 100mm X 20mm style dishes.

2.2 Detection of Protein Expression by Western

Blotting

TFK-1 and EGI-1 cells were plated into the 6-well plates (5X10⁶cells/mL). After overnight incubation, the cells were treated with drugs for 48h. After trypsinization, the cells were collected and washed using cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). The harvested cells were lysed with RIPA lysis buffer system (ChemCruz, cat.no. sc-24948) after addition of 10µL protease inhibitor cocktail, 10µL PMSF solution and 10µL sodium orthovanadate solution per ml of 1X RIPA lysis buffer. The extracted protein concentration was calculated with DC protein assay kit (Biorad/USA cat. no. 500-0113, cat.no. 500-0114, cat. no. 500-0115) under manufacturer's instruction. The absorption of proteins was measured at 750 nm with Varioskan[™] LUX multimode microplate reader (Thermo Scientific[™]). The cell lysates were loaded as 20-60 µg per well. Gel

electrophoreses (10-15% acrylamide gels) were performed (Biorad, München). The PVDF membranes were blocked using 5 % dried milk in 1X TNT containing 5M NaCI, 2M Tris pH 7,5 and 10 % Tween20 1 hr at room temperature on the shaker and they were incubated overnight at 4°C with the primary antibodies which are ULK1 (1:1000; cat. no. 4773S; Cell signaling), Akt (1: 1,000; cat. no. 4691S; Cell signaling) as well as LC3B (1:1000; cat. no. 2775S; Cell signaling), GAPDH (1:1,000; cat. no. 2118S; Cell signaling) and Anti-β-Actin (1:1000; cat. no. A1978; Sigma Aldrich) antibodies. After overnight incubation with primary antibodies, membranes were washed with 1X TNT buffer for 10min and this washing step was repeated 3 times. After washing steps, the membranes were incubated with the following secondary antibodies for 1hr at room temperature: Peroxidase AffiniPure Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L) (1:10,000 - 1:200,000 for Western blotting with ECL substrates; cat. no. 111-035-003); Peroxidase AffiniPure Goat Anti-Mouse IgG (H+L) (1:10,000 - 1:200,000 for Western blotting with ECL substrates; cat. no. 115-035-003) (both from jackson immunoresearch europe ltd). The washing steps with 1X TNT buffer were repeated and the signals were detected by Pierce[™] ECL Western Blotting Substrate (cat. no: 32106; UK) with ChemiDoc[™] Imaging Systems (Biorad).

2.3 Drug Preparation and In Vitro Cell Viability Assay

The cells were plated 5000 cells/100 uL for cell viability assays. After overnight incubation the cells were treated with DMSO, Hh pathway inhibitors, autophagy pathway blockers and combination of Hh pathway inhibitors and autophagy pathway blockers in order to check whether the Hh and autophagy pathways are activated in CCA.

In order to inhibit Hh pathway, Gli inhibitor GANT61 [[dihydro-2-(4-pyridinyl)-1,3(2H,4H)-pyrimidinediyl]bis (methylene)]bis[N,Ndimethyl benzenamine] (Stanton et al., 2009; Desch et al., 2010; Ozone et al., 2010; Queiroz et al., 2010; Amakye et al., 2013; Kakanj et al., 2013; Zahreddine et al., 2014; Han et al 2015; Infante et al., 2015; Kern et al 2015; Samanta et al., 2015; Falkenberg et al 2016; Vlčková et al., 2016) were dissolved in DMSO and their stock solutions were prepared. After treatment of the cells with DMSO and GANT61 (5μ M- 50μ M) for 24, 48, and 72 hours their IC50 concentrations were calculated using Graphpad prism 7 program based on the proliferation curve [175, 259]. In order to manipulate autophagy pathway PP242 (25 to 500 nM) was achieved. For autophagy pathway inhibition follows were used: autophagosome-lysosome fusion using vinblastine and nocodazole (0,1 to 10μ M); autophagolysosomal degradation using NH4Cl (10 to 20mM), chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine (5 to 100μ M).

Proliferation of cells was calculated by 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5diphenyl-2H-tetrazolium bromide (MTT) Cell Viability Assay, which has been used to determine cell viability since 1980's [314]. First of all, cells were seeded in triplicate in 96-well plates as $5X10^3$ cells per well. After 24, 48 or 72h incubation, 10 μ l of MTT solution (cat. no. M2128; Sigma Aldrich) was added to each well and the cells were incubated for 2-4h at 37°C. After incubation, the formazan crystals were solubilized with 100 μ l of DMSO. The plates were incubated for 15 min on the shaker and the absorbance was measured with VarioskanTM LUX multimode microplate reader (Thermo ScientificTM) at 570 nm.

2.4 Autophagy Modulation by Autophagy Blockers

The manipulation of autophagy pathway was performed by different autophagy blockers. For activation of autophagy pathway PP242 in DMSO (25 to 500 nM) was used and for inhibition of autophagy the following were used: autophagosome-lysosome fusion using vinblastine in water and nocodazole in DMSO (0,1 to 10 μ M); autophagolysosomal degradation using NH4Cl in water (10 to 20mM), chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine in water (5 to 100 μ M). Autophagic activity was determined according to the recently updated guidelines [313]. The protein expression was checked using the following autophagy markers: LC3B, ULK-1, Akt, GAPDH and Anti- β -Actin and the aforementioned experimental procedure for western blot was followed for the detection of these autophagic markers' expression.

2.5 Cell Death Assay

For apoptosis assay, 2 million cells/mL were plated, treated and incubated in 6 well plates for 48h. After 48h incubation, the cells were collected after trypsinization and they were centrifugated at 1700 rpm for 5 minutes. The cells were rinsed with PBS twice and centrifugated and dissolved in 200 μ l 1X binding buffer (diluted with ultrapure water). The untreated control cells were dissolved in 800 μ l 1X binding buffer and

separated as PI⁺/FITC⁺, PI⁻/FITC⁻, PI⁺/FITC⁻, PI⁻/FITC⁺. For detection of apoptosis 5 μ L of fluorochrome-conjugated Annexin V (eBioscienceTM Annexin V Apoptosis Detection Kit APC, cat. no. 88-8007-72) was added to 100 μ L sample. After 10-15 min. incubation at room temperature, the cells were resuspended with 200 μ L of 1X binding buffer and 5 μ L of Propidium Iodide staining solution (eBioscienceTM Annexin V Apoptosis Detection Kit APC, cat. no. 88-8007-72) was performed and analyzed with BD LRFortessaTM Cell Analyzer flow cytometer.

2.6 Cell Cycle Analysis

For cell cycle analysis, 1 million cells/well were plated and incubated overnight. The cells were treated and after 48h incubation, the cells were trypsinized and centrifuged at 260 G for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was removed and the cells were dissolved with 1 mL cold PBS. After centrifugation at 260 G for 10 min at 4 °C, the supernatant was removed and this washing step was repeated 2 times. The cells were dissolved with 1 mL cold PBS and 4 mL cold ethanol (70%) was added on it and vortexed gently and incubated overnight at -20 °C for fixation. Next day, the supernatant was removed completely after centrifugation at 260 G for 10 min at 4 °C. The cells were dissolved with 1 mL cold PBS, centrifuged at 260 G for 10 min at 4 °C and supernatant was removed. The pellet was homogenized with 1 mL 0.1% Triton-X (Merck Millipore 1.08603.1000) in PBS and 100 uL RNase (200ug/mL) (Sigma R5503) was added on it and incubated at 37 °C for 30 min. The untreated control was separated into two as propidium iodide (PI) (Sigma P4170) stained and PI unstained. 100 uL PI (1 mg/mL) was added to all samples and PI stained untreated control. After 15 minutes incubation at room temperature, the samples were analyzed with BD LRFortessaTM Cell Analyzer flow cytometer.

2.7 Combination Experiments

The combination experiments were performed using Table 2.7.1 based on IC20 and IC30 drug concentrations.

Drugs	EGI-1	TFK-1
GANT61+ chloroquine	15 μM+ 25 μM	15 μM+ 50 μM
GANT61+ nocodazole	15 μM+ 0,2 μM	15 μM+ 0,4 μM

Table 2.7.1 Concentrations of drugs for combination experiments

2.8 Statistical analysis

The statistical analyses were done by unpaired Student's t-test. Comparisons of more than two groups were performed by 2way ANOVA. The level of significance was set at P<0.05. All data were presented as mean \pm s.d. Calculations were performed by using GraphPad Prism7.

3. RESULTS

In this study, the crosstalk between autophagy and Hh signaling pathways were reconstructed using specific modulators and inhibitors. In accordance with this purpose, two cholangiocarcinoma cell lines, which are EGI-1 and TFK-1 were selected and all experiments were performed on these cells *in vitro*.

3.1. Autophagy Signaling Manipulation and Its Effect on the Proliferation of CCA Cell Lines

In order to check the importance of the activation or inhibition of autophagy on the proliferation of CCA cell lines, we have treated TFK-1 and EGI-1 cells with different modulators of autophagy. Zhou et al., revealed that autophagy can be activated through suppression of mTOR through starvation or mTOR inhibitors such as PP242 and Torin1 [315]. In order to check the effect of autophagy activation on CCA, the TFK-1 and EGI-1 cells were treated with PP242 (25-500 nM) and number of cells/control were calculated. It is observed that cell proliferation decreased by 40% for EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells at the highest dose of 500nM.



Figure 3.1.1 The effect of PP242 treatment on the cell proliferation of (A) EGI-1 and (B) TFK-1 cells for 24h, 48h and 72h. The proliferation was normalized per control shown as percentage of proliferation cells. The number of replicates was 3 in each experiment and the average of the replicates performed during each experiment were imported to GraphPad, where the statistical analysis was done on different independent experiments (n=3) and, (ns=P>0.05, *= P ≤ 0.05 , **= P ≤ 0.01 , ***= P ≤ 0.001 , ***= P ≤ 0.001).

It is shown that number of autophagosomes and LC3-II level are elevated after treatment with vinblastine, which is the microtubule-depolymerizing agent [316-320]. This increase inhibits autophagosome fusion with lysosome by disturbing the activity of microtubules [316]. In our study, we optimized the concentrations of vinblastine as 0.25-50 μ M for EGI-1 and 0.5-50 μ M for TFK-1 (Figure 3.1.3). We observed that treatment of EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells with vinblastine diminished cell number 50% (Figure 3.1.1) and 60% (Figure 3.1.1), respectively.

In kidney cells, nocodazole, which is another microtubule-depolymerizing agent increase autophagosome number and cause an inhibition of autophagy-mediated protein degradation and endosome autophagosome fusion [229, 316, 318]. When we treated EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells with Nocodazole in both time-dependent and dose-dependent manner, the results showed that proliferation of cells/per control decreased by 50% (Figure 3.1.2).



Figure 3.1.2 The effect of Nocodazole treatment on the cell proliferation of (A) EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells for 24h, 48h and 72h. The proliferation was normalized per control and shown as percentage of proliferation cells. The number of replicates was 3 in each experiment and the average of the replicates performed during each experiment were imported to GraphPad, where the statistical analysis was done on different independent experiments (n=2) and, ns=P>0.05, *= P ≤ 0.05 , **= P ≤ 0.001 , ***= P ≤ 0.001 , ***= P ≤ 0.001 .



В

Figure 3.1.3 The effect of Vinblastine treatment on the cell proliferation of (A) EGI-1 and (B) TFK-1 cells for 24h, 48h and 72h. The proliferation was normalized per control and shown as percentage of proliferation cells. The number of replicates was 3 in each experiment and the average of the replicates performed during each experiment were imported to GraphPad, where the statistical analysis was done on these replicates (n=3) and, ns=P>0.05, *= P ≤ 0.05 , **= P ≤ 0.01 , ***= P ≤ 0.001 .

Chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine are shown to block autophagosomal degradation and inhibit autophagy by blocking lysosomal acidification [321-323]. We observed that the treatment of EGI-1 cells with both hydroxychloroquine and chloroquine decreased the proliferation of these cells 80-90% per control. In addition to that, 70% of TFK-1 cells died after hydroxychloroquine and chloroquine treatment (Figure 3.1.4 and Figure 3.1.5).



30

Figure 3.1.4 The effect of Hydroxychloroquine treatment on the cell proliferation of EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells for 24h, 48h and 72h. The proliferation was normalized per control and shown as percentage of proliferation cells. The number of replicates was 3 in each experiment and the average of the replicates performed during each experiment were imported to GraphPad, where the statistical analysis was done on different independent experiments (n=2 for EGI-1 cells and n=3 for TFK-1 cells) and, ns=P>0.05, *= P ≤ 0.05 , **= P ≤ 0.01 , ***= P ≤ 0.001 , ***= P ≤ 0.0001 .



Figure 3.1.5 The effect of Chloroquine treatment on the cell proliferation of (A) EGI-1 and (B) TFK-1 cells for 24h, 48h and 72h. The proliferation was normalized per control and shown as percentage of proliferation cells. The number of replicates was 3 in each experiment and the average of the replicates performed during each experiment were imported to GraphPad, where the statistical analysis was done on different independent experiments (n=3) and and, ns=P>0.05, *= $P \le 0.05$, **= $P \le 0.01$, ***= $P \le 0.001$, ***= $P \le 0.0001$.

We also showed that 20 mM ammonium chloride inhibit the proliferation of TFK-1 (Figure 3.1.11) and EGI-1 cells (Figure 3.1.1.12).



Figure 3.1.11 The effect of ammonium chloride treatment on the cell proliferation of EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells for 24h, 48h and 72h. The proliferation was normalized per control and shown as percentage of proliferation cells. The number of replicates was 3 in each experiment and the average of the replicates performed during each experiment were imported to GraphPad, where the statistical analysis was done on different independent experiments (n=3) and, ns=P>0.05, *= P ≤ 0.05 , **= P ≤ 0.001 , ***= P ≤ 0.001 , ***= P ≤ 0.001 .

These data indicate that autophagy is an important mechanism that is essential for the survival and proliferation of CCA cell lines and inhibiting it can decrease the proliferation of this aggresive cancer.

3.2 The Effect of Hedgehog Pathway Inhibition on the proliferation of CCA Cell Lines

More than 50 compounds have been studied in order to inhibit Hh signaling in several carcinomas [324, 325]. Particularly clinical usage of SMO antagonist, GDC-0449, was approved by Food and Drug Administration in 2012 [325-328]. GANT61 is the other agent, which has been considered as a promising agent for Hh signaling. GANT61 directly binds Gli transcription factor and blocks Hh signaling pathway (Lauth et al., 2007; Benvenuto et al., 2016). In order to see cytotoxic effects of GANT61 on EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells and to assess the importance of Hh pathway on the suvrvival of these cells, we treated these TFK-1 and EGI-1 with different increasing concentrations of GANT61. It was observed that 50 μ M of GANT61 treatment lead to more than 90% decrease in the proliferation of EGI-1 for 48h and TFK-1 for 72h(Figure 3.2.1).



Figure 3.2.1 The effect of GANT61 treatment on the cell proliferation of (A) EGI-1 and (B) TFK-1 cells for 24h, 48h and 72h. The proliferation was normalized per control and shown as percentage of proliferation cells. The number of replicates was 3 in each experiment and the average of the replicates performed during each experiment were imported to GraphPad, where the statistical analysis was done on different independent experiments (n=3 for EGI-1 cells, n=2 for TFK-1 cells) and and, ns=P>0.05, *= P ≤ 0.05 , **= P ≤ 0.01 , ***= P ≤ 0.001 , ***= P ≤ 0.0001 .

3.3 Combatting CCA by the Dual Inhibition of Hh and Autophagy

In order to check the synergistic effect of combination therapy on the proliferation of EGI-1 cells, the cells were treated with GANT61 alone,or chloroquine alone and combination of GANT61 and chloroquine for 48h. IC30 doses of both GANT61 (15 μ M) and chloroquine (25 μ M) were determined by cell proliferation assays for the further combination experiments. When the cells were treated with GANT61 and chloroquine alone, the proliferation of cells decreased by around 30% of cells compared to DMSO control (C) and water control. On the other hand, the combination treatment of GANT61 and chloroquine lead to further decrease in cell proliferation compared to GANT61 or chloroquine alone (Figure 3.3.1).



Figure 3.3.1 (A) The proliferation of EGI-1 cells after treatment with GANT61 alone (15 μ M), chloroquine alone (25 μ M) and combination of GANT61 and chloroquine for 48h. The proliferation of cells was normalized to the control. The standard deviation was performed on the number of replicates (n=3) (B) The proliferation of EGI-1 cells after treatment with GANT61 alone (15 μ M), nocodazole alone (0,2 μ M) and combination of GANT61 and chloroquine for 48h. The proliferation of cells was normalized to the control.The standard deviation was performed on the number of cells was normalized to the control.The standard deviation was performed on the number of cells was normalized to the control.The standard deviation was performed on the number of replicates (n=3).

In the similar manner, after determination of IC30 doses of both GANT61 (15 μ M) and nocodazole (0.2 μ M) for the EGI-1 cells, the cells were treated with GANT61 alone, nocodazole alone and combination of GANT61 and nocodazole for 48h. It is observed that treatment of EGI-1 cells with both GANT61 and nocodazole decrease cell proliferation around 40% and 20% higher more than GANT61 and or nocodazole alone, respectively (Figure 3.3.1).

When we treated TFK-1 cells with GANT61 alone, chloroquine alone and combination of both, we observed that the proliferation of TFK-1 cells decreased in the combination compared to single treatments (Figure 3.3.2).



В

Figure 3.3.2 (A) The proliferation of TFK-1 cells after treatment with GANT61 alone (15 μ M), chloroquine alone (50 μ M) and combination of GANT61 and chloroquine for 48h. The proliferation of cells was normalized to the control.The standard deviation was performed on the number of replicates (n=3) (B) The proliferation of TFK-1 cells after treatment with GANT61 alone (15 μ M), Nocodazole alone (0.4 μ M) and combination of GANT61 and chloroquine for 48h. The proliferation of cells was normalized to the control.The standard deviation was performed on the number of cells was normalized to the control.The standard deviation was performed on the number of cells was normalized to the control.The standard deviation was performed on the number of replicates (n=3).

Combination of GANT61 and nocodazole is also shown to decrease TFK-1 cell proliferation to 60% compared to DMSO control (Figure 3.3.4).

This suggest that dual treatment of Hh inhibitors and autophagy blockers leads to a futher decrease in the proliferation of CCA cell lines compared to individual treamtments. Thus, suggesting that these treatments can sensitize CCA.

3.4 Autophagy inhibition Lead to an Increase in Cell Death in TFK-1 and EGI-1 CCA Cell Lines

After determination anti-proliferative effects of inhibitors, using proliferation test results, the 100 μ M and 200 μ M of hydroxychloroquine and chloroquine were determined and the TFK-1 cells were treated with hyroxychloroquine and chloroquine for 48h. After 48h treatment with both chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine, 2.5 fold

increase in the percentage of necrotic cells/control was observed at the highest dose (Figure 3.4.1).



Figure 3.4.1 (A) Determination of apoptotic and necrotic cell percentage after 48h hydrochloroquine treatment. The graph shows the quantification of apoptotic and necrotic cell percentage of TFK-1 cells per water control after hydroxychloroquine treatment. (B) Determination of apoptotic and necrotic cell percentage of TFK-1 cells after 48h chloroquine treatment. The graph shows the quantification of apoptotic and necrotic cell percentage of TFK-1 cells after chloroquine treatment. (C) Determination of apoptotic and necrotic cell percentage of TFK-1 cells after 48h ammonium chloride treatment. The graph shows the quantification of apoptotic treatment. The graph shows the quantification of apoptotic and necrotic cell percentage of TFK-1 cells after 48h ammonium chloride treatment. The graph shows the quantification of apoptotic and necrotic cell percentage of TFK-1 cells after 48h ammonium chloride treatment. The graph shows the quantification of apoptotic and necrotic cell percentage of TFK-1 cells after 48h ammonium chloride treatment.

Using 10 mM and 30 mM concentrations of ammonium chloride, the TFK-1 cells were treated for 48h. A 3.5 fold increase in the percentage of apoptotic cells was observed compared to control (Figure 3.4.1).

48h chloroquine treatment is shown to increase necrotic cell percentage of EGI-1 cells 2.5 folds at the 100 μ M (Figure 3.4.2).

After that, the EGI-1 cells were treated 10 mM and 30 mM of ammonium chloride. Ammonium chloride increased the necrotic cell percentage more than 3 folds compared to the control (Figure 3.4.2).



Figure 3.4.2 (A) Determination of apoptotic and necrotic cell percentage of EGI-1 cells after 48h chloroquine treatment. The graph shows the quantification of apoptotic and necrotic cell percentage of TFK-1 cells per water control after chloroquine treatment. The experiment was repeated 2 times. (B) Determination of apoptotic and necrotic cell percentage of EGI-1 cells after 48h ammonium chloride treatment. The graph shows the quantification of apoptotic and necrotic cell percentage of TFK-1 cells per water control after ammonium treatment.

To further understand and explain the decrease in cell proliferation that is observed after autophagy inhibition, we sought to check the cell cycle profile of the cells. Some flow cytometric techniques can be used in order to follow changes in the cell cycle after environmental factors, radiation or drug treatments [329-331]. PI flow cytometric assay is one of these methods. PI is a fluorogenic dye, which binds nucleic acids stoichiometrically and DNA content of the cell can be detected by fluorescence emission [332-334].



Figure 3.4.6 Cell cycle analysis of EGI-1 cells by flow cytometer. (A) PI staining of water treated EGI-1 cells as control. (B) PI staining of 10 mM ammonium chloride treated EGI-1 cells. (C) PI staining of 30 mM ammonium chloride treated EGI-1 cells. (D) Quantification of the cells in cell cycle after ammonium chloride treatment.

The cell cycle analysis indicates that there is no significant change in the EGI-1 cells after ammonium chloride treatment (Figure 3.4.6).



Figure 3.4.7 Cell cycle analysis of TFK-1 cells by flow cytometer. (A) PI staining of water treated TFK-1 cells as control. (B) PI staining of 10 mM ammonium chloride treated TFK-1 cells. (C) PI staining of 30 mM ammonium chloride treated TFK-1 cells. (D) Quantification of the cells in cell cycle after ammonium chloride treatment.

It was observed that ammonium chloride treatment increased the cell number blocked in the G2/M phase, which indicate that treatment with ammonium chloride induces G2/M arrest in TFK-1 cells (Figure 3.4.7). Approximately, ammonium chloride treatment led to around 10% increase in the cell count in the G2/M phase of cell cycle after 30 mM treatment compared to control.



Figure 3.4.8 Cell cycle analysis of TFK-1 cells by flow cytometer. (A) PI staining of water treated TFK-1 cells as control. (B) PI staining of 100 μM chloroquine treated TFK-1 cells. (C) PI staining of 200 μM chloroquine treated TFK-1 cells. (D) Quantification of the cells in cell cycle after chloroquine treatment.

Chloroquine treatment was also shown to cause arrest in G2/M phase at the 200 μ M dose after 48h treatment in the TFK-1 cells.



Figure 3.4.9 Cell cycle analysis of TFK-1 cells by flow cytometer. (A) PI staining of water treated TFK-1 cells as control. (B) PI staining of 100 µM hydroxychloroquine treated TFK-1 cells. (C) PI staining of 200 µM hydroxychloroquine treated TFK-1 cells. (D) Quantification of the cells in cell cycle after hydroxychloroquine treatment.

Like ammonium chloride and chloroquine, hydroxychloroquine was shown to induce G2/M arrest in TFK-1 cells (Figure 3.4.8 and 3.4.9). These results indicate that blocking autophagy at autophagosomal degradation leads to G2/M arrest in TFK-1 cells but not in EGI-1 cells.

3.5 The Effect of Autophagy Inhibition or Combination Treatment of Hh and Autophagy inhibition on the markers of Autophagic Pathway

To further understand the mode of action of the modulation of autophagy on the CCA cell lines, we sought to check the underlying molecular mechanisms. In order to analyze protein expression of EGI-1 cells, the cells were first treated with ammonium chloride for 48h. Then, the cell lysates were collected and analyzed by western blotting. Akt is a negative regulator of autophagy by which inhibiting autophagy-promoting proteins. In our study, Akt expression in EGI-1 cells was shown to be decreased after ammonium chloride treatment compared to water control (Figure 3.5.1). Unlike EGI-1 cells, we detected a slight decrease in the expression of Akt in the ammonium chloride treated TFK-1 cells (Figure 3.5.1).





Figure 3.5.1 Western blot analysis of (A) EGI-1 and (B) TFK-1 cells after ammonium treatment with representative western blot analysis of Akt and densitometric graph Akt expression after ammonium chloride. GAPDH was used for protein loading normalization.



Figure 3.5.3 Western blot analysis of TFK-1 cells after chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine treatments. (A) Representative western blot analysis of LC3B and Akt. GAPDH was used as an internal control and for protein loading normalization. (B) Densitometric comparison of LC3B and Akt expression after chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine treatments.

When the TFK-1 cells were treated with chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine for 48h, we checked expression of LC3B since the presence of LC3 and LC3-II are autophagy indicators [335-337]. It is shown that both chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine increased expression of LC3B compared to water control (Figure 3.5.3). On the other hand, chloroquine treatment is shown to decrease expression of Akt

while, there is not significant change between hydroxychloroquine treatments and water control (Figure 3.5.3)



EGI-1



GANT61 (uM)/ CQ (uM) 48h





Figure 3.5.4 (A) Western blot analysis of EGI-1 cells after treatment with DMSO as a control, GANT61 alone, chloroquine alone and GANT61/chloroquine combination with representative western blot analysis of LC3B and Akt and densitometric graph LC3B and Akt expression after treatment with DMSO as a control, GANT61 alone, chloroquine alone and GANT61/chloroquine combination. (B) Western blot analysis of EGI-1 cells after treatment with DMSO as a control, GANT61 alone, nocodazole alone and GANT61/nocodazole combination with representative western blot analysis of LC3B and Akt and densitometric graph LC3B and Akt

expression after treatment with DMSO as a control, GANT61 alone, nocodazole alone and GANT61/nocodazole combination. GAPDH was used as an internal control and for protein loading normalization.







GANT61 (uM)/ Chloroquine (uM) 48h



Figure 3.5.5 (A) Western blot analysis of TFK-1 cells after treatment with DMSO as a control, GANT61 alone, water as a control, chloroquine alone and GANT61/chloroquine combination with representative western blot analysis of LC3B and Akt and densitometric graph LC3B and Akt expression after treatment with DMSO as a control, GANT61 alone, chloroquine alone and GANT61/chloroquine combination. (B) Western blot analysis of TFK-1 cells after treatment with DMSO as a control, GANT61 alone, after treatment with DMSO as a control, GANT61 alone, nocodazole alone and GANT61/nocodazole combination with representative western blot analysis of LC3B and Akt and densitometric graph LC3B and Akt expression after treatment with DMSO as a control, GANT61 alone, nocodazole alone and GANT61/nocodazole combination. GAPDH was used for protein loading normalization.

In order to understand if Hh inhibition has an effect on autophagy in the context of CCA, and to see the molecular effect of the combination treatment, we checked the protein expression levels of AKT and LC3B. After determination of IC30 values of GANT61, chloroquine and nocodazole, the EGI-1 cells were treated with DMSO and GANT61 alone, water as controls. chloroquine alone. and combination (GANT61/chloroquine) for 48h. In the GANT61/chloroquine combination, the expression of both LC3B and Akt increased compared to chloroquine alone and GANT61 alone (Figure 3.5.4, Figure 3.5.4).

The same treatment was implemented on TFK-1 cells, too. Like EGI-1 cells, the increase is detected in the LC3B expression. Increase of LC3B expression is an indicator of autophagy [335, 336]. Unlike EGI-1 cells, Akt expression decreased in the chloroquine-treated TFK-1 cells but, GANT61/chloroquine combination treatment increased Akt expression of TFK-1 cells (Figure 3.5.5).

After that, the EGI-1 cells were treated with DMSO as a control, GANT61 alone, nocodazole alone, and combination (GANT61/nocodazole) for 48h. When we compared the expression of LC3B in the combination, we observed decrease in LC3B expression in the combination compared to single treatments (Figure 3.5.4). Like LC3B, the Akt expression is slightly decreased after combination treatment (Figure 3.3.3.6).

The link between ATG5 and ATG12 is essential for modification of LC3 (Ichimura et al., 2000; Mizushima et al., 1998). Unlike EGI-1 cells, we showed that expression of LC3B and ATG5 highly increased in the GANT61/nocodazole combination-treated TFK-1 cells compared to GANT61 and nocodazole alone (Figure 3.5.5). In the autophagy pathway, two ubiquitin-like modification systems are necessary for autophagosome formation. The same increase was observed in the Akt expression of GANT61/nocodazole combination-treated TFK-1 cells (Figure 3.5.5).

As a conclusion, we showed that combination therapy decreased cell proliferation of both EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells. And, inhibition of Hh pathway with either by chloroquine or nocodazole manipulated autophagy.

4. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

4.1. CONCLUSION

The CCA is the second most common liver cancer. The incidence of CCA is increasing in North America, Europe and Asia day by day. The CCA treatment in both early and advanced stages is really challenging. Surgery is used as an option for CCA treatment; however, percentage of relapses after surgery is high. In addition to surgery, combination of gemcitabine and cisplatin is used as a palliative option for CCA [338]. Therefore, understanding the underlying molecular mechanism of CCA pathogenesis is necessary to combat with CCA. Some pathways are dysregulated in CCA such as, PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathway, Notch signaling pathway, and Hh signaling pathway [339, 290, 184].

In this study, the TFK-1 and EGI-1 cells were treated with GANT61 which is a specific Gli inhibitor in order to check the effects of Hh pathway inhibition on CCA proliferation [340]. Although lower doses of GANT61 did not affect the proliferation of TFK-1 and EGI-1 cells, at the highest doses (15-20 μ M), we showed that GANT61 decreased proliferation of TFK-1 and EGI-1 cells 90% compared to DMSO control at the highest concentration; however, the statistical analysis indicate that GANT61 is more effective on the proliferation of TFK-1 cells compared to EGI-1 (Figure 3.2).100 uM GANT 61 was shown to inhibit 50% of SNU1196 pCCA cells [341]. It is also shown that GANT61 reduced cell proliferation of pancreatic cancer stem cells and 20 μ M GANT61 was shown to inhibit the growth of ER-positive breast cancer cell [342, 343].

The crosstalk between mTOR/ribosomal S6 Kinase 1 (S6K1) and Hh signaling pathway is established in esophageal adenocarcinoma pathogenesis [344]. mTOR/S6K1 signaling cascade activation induce transcriptional activity of Gli1 by S6K1-mediated Gli1 phosphorylation at Ser84. The dissociation of Gli1 from Sufu activates Gli-target genes, which are involved in carcinogenesis [345]. It is known that mTOR signaling pathway is also involved in autophagy regulation in response to environmental stresses.

mTORC1 stimulation was reported to inhibit autophagy and mTORC2 was also shown to suppress autophagy by mTORC1 activation [191, 346]. Additionally, mTORC2 is activated by PI3K signaling. After that, PI3K phosphorylates AKT, which causes activation of AKT/mTORC1 signaling cascade [346- 348]. In different studies, mTORC1 was shown to modulate autophagy by ULK1, ATG13 and focal adhesion kinase family-interacting protein of 200 kDa (FIP200) regulation. It was reported that for the initiation of autophagy this kinase complex is required to be phosphorylated by mTORC1 [346, 349- 351]. In order to check mTOR inhibition, we treated TFK-1 and EGI-1 cells with PP242, which is mTOR inhibitor and we determined the IC50 concentration of PP242 (Figure 3.1.1 and 6) [315]. We observed that inhibition of mTOR with PP242 was more effective on TFK-1 cells compared to EGI-1 cells. We also detected that inhibition of Hh by GANT61 caused the same results on the proliferation of our cells (Figure 3.2). The combined inhibiton of mTOR and Hh causes autophagy activation, which indicates that activation of autophagy either by mTOR or Hh inhibition might be used as an escape mechanism by EGI-1 cells but not TFK-1 cells. This is supported by the decrease in TFK-1 cell proliferation after PP242 and GANT61 treatment. Xing et al., have determined IC50 of PP242 for gastric cancer cells as 50-500 nmol/L for different cell lines [352]. Moreover, PP242 inhibited mTOR signaling in Ba/F3-ITD/luc/GFP mouse model of leukemia and it showed more antileukemia effect compared to another mTOR inhibitor, rapamycin [353]. In order to understand whether mTOR inhibition blocks autophagy in our cells or not, we are planning to check autophagy related proteins which are LC3B and ATG5 in the further experiments.

In addition to mTOR inhibitors and starvation, autophagy could be manipulated with different inhibitors. Nocodazole and vinblastine are microtubule modulators of autophagy pathway [354]. Nocodazole inhibits autophagy by modulating autophagosome fusion [229, 316, 318]. When we treated the EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells with nocodazole, we observed that nocodazole decreased proliferation of EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells around 50% at the highest dose (10 μ M), however like PP242 treatment, nocodazole treatment was more effective on the inhibition of the proliferation of TFK-1 cells compared to EGI-1 cells (Figure 3.1.2).We also obtained that vinblastine treatment inhibits cell proliferation of TFK-1 and EGI-1 cell in a time dependent manner (0.25-50 μ M for EGI-1 cells, 0.5-50 μ M for TFK-1 cells) (Figure 3.1.3). In a study, IC50 of

vinblastine were determined for different cells such as, for MCF-1 human breast and 1/C2 mouse hepatocellular carcinoma as 0.68 nmol/L and 7.69 nmol/L, respectively [355]. The IC50 for these cell lines are low compared to both TFK-1 and EGI-1 cells. In also used other autophagy inhibitors. our study, we chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine, which blocks autophagosomal degradation. Chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine were shown to decrease bladder cancer cell viability in a timedependent and dose-dependent manner [356]. Jia et al, has determined IC50 concentration of chloroquine as 50 µM in QBC939 cholangiocarcinoma cells [366]. Consistent with this study, we showed that chloroquine decrease cell proliferation of EGI-1 cells 50% after 24h hour incubation (Figure 3.1.9). However, chloroquine is more effective on EGI-1 cell proliferation compared to TFK-1 cells (Figure 3.1.10). When we treated the cells with hydroxychloroquine, we did not observed any significant change in the cell proliferation at the lowest dosess (5-10 µM), however; hydroxychloroquine inhibited cell proliferation of both TFK-1 and EGI-1 cells at the higher doses (50-100 µM) (Figure 3.1.4). Lastly we treated the cells with well-known autophagy inhibitor, ammonium chloride in a dose-dependent and time-dependent manner. Ammonium chloride was shown to induce cell death (70 %) in C6-glioma cells at 15 mM dose at 72h incubation [357]. Consistent with this result, ammonium chloride at the same doses inhibit cell proliferation of our cells more than 60% (Figure 3.1.11 and 3.1.12). Autophagy inhibition in lung, pancreatic and iCCA cells was also shown to inhibit tumor formation and cancer cell survival [358]. Inhibition of autophagy decreased the proliferation of EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells. We can conclude based on our results that autophagy is a survival mechanism for TFK-1 and EGI-1 cells.

Cell cycle checkpoints (the G1/S boundary, the S phase and the G2/M phase) are monitored in order to observe order and timing of cell cycle events. Cell cycle arrest at these checkpoints allows the cell damage repair. In the situations, which the damage cannot be repaired, apoptosis occurs to eliminate the cell [359]. In our study, we checked the apoptotic effects of ammonium chloride. We started with IC50 concentrations; however, we couldn't detect any significant change in the percentage of apoptotic cell. So to rule out that the decrease in cell proliferation due to autophagy inhibitors treatment is a result of apoptotic cell death or any other type of cell death mechanisms we increased the treatment concentration to IC80. We showed that there were almost 4 fold apoptotic cells in the ammonium chloride (30 mM) treated-cells compared to water control (Figure 3.4.1). We also checked apoptotic effects of chloroquine, hydroxychloroquine and ammonium chloride on TFK-1 cells. At the concentration of 100 µM chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine, a 1.5-2 fold increase in the necrotic cell population compared to water control (Figure 3.4.1). Autophagy was shown to activate alternative cell death mechanisms in CCA [387]. Jiang et al., showed that chloroquine both decrease proliferation of Bcap-37 breast cancer cells and induce G2/M cell cycle arrest [360]. In order to understand the underlying mechanism of increase in necrotic cell percentage not in apoptotic cell percentage, we checked cell cycle. We also showed that chloroquine, hydroxychloroquine and ammonium chloride arrested TFK-1 cells at G2/M phase (Figure 3.4.7, 3.4.8 and 3.4.9). This might be an explanation why hydroxychloroquine and chloroquine did not induce apoptosis. We can also further check apoptosis markers caspase-3 and PARP-1 cleavage to confirm these results.

When we treated EGI-1 cells with chloroquine and ammonium chloride, we detected 3 fold necrotic cells compared to water control (Figure 3.4.2). We need to further check the cell cycle checkpoints to understand that which cell death mechanism is induced in the autophagy inhibition by chloroquine and ammonium chloride in EGI-1 cells.

After showing anti-proliferative effects of drug, we started combination experiments. For the combination experiments, we selected a representative of the two different autophagy modulators, which are nocodazole and chloroquine for modulating autophagosome fusion and blocking autophagosomal degradation, respectively. Using MTT cell proliferation assay, we determined IC30 of nocodazole, chloroquine and GANT61 for the further combination experiments. We detected that proliferation of EGI-1 cells decreased in the both GANT61-chloroquine and GANT61-nocodazole combination treated-cells compared to GANT61-alone, chloroquine-alone and nocodazole-alone treated cells (Figure 3.3.1). Like EGI-1 cells, we observed more decrease in TFK-1 cell proliferation in the combination treatment compared to single treatments (Figure 3.3.2). Consistent with our results, Li et al., showed that chloroquine increased GANT61-induced cytotoxicity in human hepatic stellate cell line LX-2 cells [361]. If we compare the effects of combination treatment on our cells, we observed that the combination treatment was more effective on EGI-1 cells compared to TFK-1 cells. The cell proliferation results showed that EGI-1 was more resistant to PP242, GANT61

53

and nocodazole treatments compared to TFK-1, however, treatment of GANT61 with either nocodazole or CQ sensitized the EGI-1 cells to our single treatments.

Additionally, in order to check basal autophagy level of TFK-1 and EGI-1 cells, we checked the protein level of LC3B. In colon cancer cells, LC3B expression was shown to increase in a dose-dependent manner after chloroquine treatment [362]. Like colon cancer cells, we showed that both chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine increased LC3B expression of TFK-1 cells (Figure 3.5.3). Additionally, we detected highly increased LC3B expression after GANT61/chloroquine-treated TFK-1 and EGI-1 cells compared to GANT61-alone and chloroquine-alone treated cells (Figure 3.5.4 and 3.5.5). Chloroquine was also shown to increase LC3B expression in T lymphocyte Jurkat cells [363]. It has been shown that Hh pathway inhibition by Smo inhibitor, cyclopamine, and increased accumulation of LC3-II in Hela cells [3]. Consistent with this accumulation, we showed that inhibition of Hh pathway activates autophagy. We also shown that after chloroquine treatment, there was slightly cleavage of LC3B. LC3-II is formed after LC3 cleavage and during autophagy, conversion of LC3-II are autophagy indicators [317, 319].

Unlike GANT61/chloroquine treatment, we did not observed any increase in the expression of LC3B of GANT61/nocodazole treated EGI-1 cells. In the autophagy pathway, nocodazole inhibits autophagosome-lysosome fusion that's why it is not surprising not to see increase in the LC3B expression compared to control after nocodazole treatment and combination treatment. In addition to that, in TFK-1 cells it was also shown that ATG5 expression highly increased in the combination treatment (Figure 3.5.5). Based on the increase in the ATG5 expression, we can conclude that autophagy can also be induced by Hh pathway inhibition at the formation of isolation membrane step of autophagy pathway.

We also checked Akt expression after single treatments and combinational treatments. Akt is a negative regulator of autophagy which inhibits autophagy promoting proteins [205]. When we treated EGI-1 cells with GANT61/nocodazole, we detected that Akt expression decreased in GANT61/nocodazole-treated cells compared to single treatment; however, GANT61/chloroquine increased Akt expression of EGI-1 cells (Figure 3.5.4 and 3.5.5). GANT61's role in the activation of autophagy was

highlighted in chronic myeloid leukemia (CML). Additionally, in CML GANT61 decreased the level of p-AKT, thus leading to the activation of autophagy.To be able to explain the crosstalk between autophagy and hedgehog, it is essential to check the expression level of the active form of Akt, which is p-Akt without that we cannot come up with any conclusive statement regarding the change of the expression level of Akt due to our treatment in the EGI-1 and TFK-1 cell lines.

We couldn't detect any significant change in Akt expression of after inhibition of both Hh pathway and autophagosomal degradation in TFK-1 cells but GANT61/nocodazole increased Akt expression compared to single treatments unlike EGI-1 cells (Figure 3.5.5). We detected that Akt expression decreased after Hh inhibition with GANT61/nocodazole treated EGI-1 but not in combination-treated TFK-1 cells and GANT61/chloroquine-treated EGI-1 cells. This difference is might be caused by inhibition of autophagy in different steps. Also, combination treatment either increase or decrease expression of the inhibition of different steps in autophagy with Hh pathway inhibition compared to Hh pathway inhibition alone that's why further deciphering of the crosstalk between these two pathways is required to understand which mechanisms control autophagy and what is the role of Akt in the induction or inhibition of autophagy in the context of CCA.

As a conclusion, targeting the different steps of the autophagic pathway with chloroquine and nocodazole and inhibiting Hh pathway by GANT61 decreased cell proliferation of both EGI-1 and TFK-1 cells. Since cholangiocarcinoma cells use autophagy as an escape mechanism, we conducted a combinational therapy targeting both Hh pathway and autophagy pathway. Our results showed that both GANT61/chloroquine and GANT61/nocodazole treatment negatively affected cell proliferation of TFK-1 and EGI-1 cells compared to single treatment with autophagy and Hh pathway inhibitors. We also concluded that, inhibition of different steps of autophagy with Hh pathway induce autophagy in TFK-1 cells; however, inhibition of Hh pathway with autophagy in EGI-1 cells, cause either inhibition or induction of autophagy depends on the treatment.

4.2. FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The CCA treatment is really challenging and several factors contribute CCA pathogenesis. Dysregulation of signaling pathways is an important factor in CCA

pathogenesis. Autophagy is an example for these pathways and CCA cells use autophagy as an escape mechanism. Akt or ERK 1/2 inhibition was shown to sensitize cisplatin-resistant iCCA cells to cisplatin. Moreover, this inhibition induced apoptosis and inhibited growth of iCCA, which indicates that combination experiment using mTOR and autophagy pathway prevents chemoresistance in iCCA cells [254, 364]. Autophagy pathway crosstalks with Hh signaling pathway, which is dysregulated in CCA.Considering the link between autophagy and Hh pathways, we performed a combinational therapy using autophagy and Hh inhibitors and our results were promising. The combination therapy decrease cell proliferation of CCA cells compared to single treatments. We also checked the expression of autophagy related protein LC3B after combination treatment and we observed that the expression of LC3B increased in GANT61/chloroquine-treated cells but not in GANT61/nocodazole-treated cells. Like our results, nocodazole treatment accumulated LC3II and p62 in Mouse NSC34 (motor neuron-like hybrid cell line) [365]. We also detected either decrease or increase of Akt expression after combination of Hh pathway inhibition with different autophagy modulators. Further experiments are required to confirm the role of Akt. In order to clarify this idea, p-Akt protein levels can be check after combination experiment in the future. Additionally, further experiments need to be done to understand the crosstalk between PI3K/mTOR/ Akt pathway and autophagy in cholangiocarcinoma cells. We are also planning to check expression levels of other PI3K/mTOR/ Akt pathway members in the further experiments.

In our study, we showed that combination experiment has good outcomes with regard to proliferation of cholangiocarcinoma cells but the underlying mechanisms in the inhibition of cell proliferation, which cell death mechanisms are activated by combination, still needs to be clarified. Also, we need to check other apoptosis markers like PARP-1 cleavage and caspases in the future. Understanding and clarifying the proper regulation of autophagy in CCA and the role of hedgehog pathaway in it allow us to develop better treatment options and more personalized targeted therapy for CCA patients. In order to further confirm our *in vitro* data, we need to investigate these two pathways *in vivo* using mouse models for the CCA carcinogenesis.

6. BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Altman, J. K., Szilard, A., Goussetis, D. J., Sassano, A., Colamonici, M., Gounaris, E., ... Platanias, L. C, "Autophagy Is a Survival Mechanism of Acute Myelogenous Leukemia Precursors during Dual mTORC2/mTORC1 Targeting," Clinical Cancer Research, 20(9), 2400–2409 (2014).

2. Evangelisti, C., Evangelisti, C., Chiarini, F., Lonetti, A., Buontempo, F., Neri, L. M., ... Martelli, A. M., "Autophagy in acute leukemias: A double-edged sword with important therapeutic implications," Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research, 1853(1), 14–26, (2015).

 Jimenez-Sanchez, M., Menzies, F. M., Chang, Y.-Y., Simecek, N., Neufeld, T.
P., & Rubinsztein, D. C., "The Hedgehog signalling pathway regulates autophagy," Nature Communications, 3(1), 1200, (2012).

4. Martelli, A. M., Chiarini, F., Evangelisti, C., Cappellini, A., Buontempo, F., Bressanin, D., ... McCubrey, J. A., "Two hits are better than one: targeting both phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and mammalian target of rapamycin as a therapeutic strategy for acute leukemia treatment," Oncotarget, 3(4), 371–394, (2012).

5. XU, Y., AN, Y., WANG, X., ZHA, W., & LI, X., "Inhibition of the Hedgehog pathway induces autophagy in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cells,". Oncology Reports, 31(2), 707–712, (2014).

6. Riedlinger, D., Bahra, M., Boas-Knoop, S., Lippert, S., Bradtmöller, M., Guse, K., ... Kamphues, C., "Hedgehog pathway as a potential treatment target in human cholangiocarcinoma," Journal of Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Sciences, 21(8), 607–615, (2014).

7. Carpino, G., Cardinale, V., Renzi, A., Hov, J. R., Berloco, P. B., Rossi, M., ... Gaudio, E., "Activation of biliary tree stem cells within peribiliary glands in primary sclerosing cholangitis," Journal of Hepatology, 63(5), 1220–1228, (2015). 8. Böttcher, J. P., Schanz, O., Wohlleber, D., Abdullah, Z., Debey-Pascher, S., Staratschek-Jox, A., ... Knolle, P. A., "Liver-Primed Memory T Cells Generated under Noninflammatory Conditions Provide Anti-infectious Immunity," Cell Reports, 3(3), 779–795, (2013).

9. Crispe, I. N., Immune tolerance in liver disease. Hepatology, 60(6), 2109–2117, (2014).

10. Lukacs-Kornek, V., & Lammert, F., "The progenitor cell dilemma: Cellular and functional heterogeneity in assistance or escalation of liver injury," Journal of Hepatology, 66(3), 619–630, (2017).

11. Tanimizu, N., & Miyajima, A., "Notch signaling controls hepatoblast differentiation by altering the expression of liver-enriched transcription factors," Journal of Cell Science, 117(15), 3165–3174, (2004).

12. Malhi, H., Guicciardi, M. E., & Gores, G. J., "Hepatocyte Death: A Clear and Present Danger," Physiological Reviews, 90(3), 1165–1194, (2010).

13. Miyajima, A., Tanaka, M., & Itoh, T., "Stem/Progenitor Cells in Liver Development, Homeostasis, Regeneration, and Reprogramming," Cell Stem Cell, 14(5), 561–574, (2014).

14. Lukacs-Kornek, V., & Lammert, F., "The progenitor cell dilemma: Cellular and functional heterogeneity in assistance or escalation of liver injury," Journal of Hepatology, 66(3), 619–630, (2017).

15. Ishikawa, T., Factor, V. M., Marquardt, J. U., Raggi, C., Seo, D., Kitade, M., ... Thorgeirsson, S. S., "Hepatocyte growth factor/ c-met signaling is required for stemcell-mediated liver regeneration in mice," Hepatology, 55(4), 1215–1226, (2012).

16. Boulter, L., Guest, R. V., Kendall, T. J., Wilson, D. H., Wojtacha, D., Robson, A. J., ... Forbes, S. J., "WNT signaling drives cholangiocarcinoma growth and can be pharmacologically inhibited," Journal of Clinical Investigation, 125(3), 1269–1285, (2015).

17. Spee, B., Carpino, G., Schotanus, B. A., Katoonizadeh, A., Borght, S. Vander, Gaudio, E., & Roskams, T. "Characterisation of the liver progenitor cell niche in liver
diseases: potential involvement of Wnt and Notch signalling," Gut, 59(2), 247–257, (2010).

18. Lin, S.-L., Li, B., Rao, S., Yeo, E.-J., Hudson, T. E., Nowlin, B. T., ... Duffield, J. S., "Macrophage Wnt7b is critical for kidney repair and regeneration," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 107(9), 4194–4199, (2010).

19. Raynaud, P., Carpentier, R., Antoniou, A., & Lemaigre, F. P., "Biliary differentiation and bile duct morphogenesis in development and disease," The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 43(2), 245–256, (2011).

20. Key Statistics About Liver Cancer. (2019). Retrieved March 11, 2019, from https://www.cancer.org/cancer/liver-cancer/about/what-is-key-statistics.html

21. El-Serag, H. B., Davila, J. A., Petersen, N. J., & McGlynn, K. A., "The continuing increase in the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States: an updat,". Annals of Internal Medicine, 139(10), 817–823, (2003).

22. Azzalini, L., Ferrer, E., Ramalho, L. N., Moreno, M., Domínguez, M., Colmenero, J., ... Bataller, R., "Cigarette smoking exacerbates nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in obese rats," Hepatology, 51(5), 1567–1576, (2010).

23. Ambade, A., & Mandrekar, P., "Oxidative stress and inflammation: essential partners in alcoholic liver disease," International Journal of Hepatology, 2012, 853175, (2012).

24. Campbell, P. T., Newton, C. C., Freedman, N. D., Koshiol, J., Alavanja, M. C., Beane Freeman, L. E., ... McGlynn, K. A., "Body Mass Index, Waist Circumference, Diabetes, and Risk of Liver Cancer for U.S. Adults," Cancer Research, 76(20), 6076–6083, (2016).

25. Bosch, F. X., Ribes, J., Díaz, M., & Cléries, R., "Primary liver cancer: worldwide incidence and trend," Gastroenterology, 127(5 Suppl 1), S5–S16, (2004).

26. Yang, J. D., & Roberts, L. R., "Hepatocellular carcinoma: a global view," Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 7(8), 448–458, (2010).

27. Marrero, J., Fontana, R. J., Su, G. L., Conjeevaram, H. S., Emick, D. M., & Lok, A. S., "NAFLD may be a common underlying liver disease in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States," Hepatology, 36(6), 1349–1354, (2002).

28. Adams, L. A., Lymp, J. F., St Sauver, J., Sanderson, S. O., Lindor, K. D., Feldstein, A., & Angulo, P., "The natural history of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a population-based cohort study," Gastroenterology, 129(1), 113–121, (2005).

29. Qian, G. S., Ross, R. K., Yu, M. C., Yuan, J. M., Gao, Y. T., Henderson, B. E., ... Groopman, J. D., "A follow-up study of urinary markers of aflatoxin exposure and liver cancer risk in Shanghai, People's Republic of China," Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention : A Publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, Cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology, 3(1), 3–10.

30. Kensler, T. W., Qian, G.-S., Chen, J.-G., & Groopman, J. D., "Translational strategies for cancer prevention in liver," Nature Reviews Cancer, 3(5), 321–329, (2003).

31. Sudakin, D. L., "Dietary aflatoxin exposure and chemoprevention of cancer: a clinical review," Journal of Toxicology. Clinical Toxicology, 41(2), 195–204, (2003).

32. Johannesburg, W., & Kew, M. C., "AAatoxins as a Cause of Hepatocellular Carcinoma," J Gastrointestin Liver Dis (Vol. 22), (2013).

33. Wild, C. P., & Turner, P. C., "The toxicology of aflatoxins as a basis for public health decision," Mutagenesis, 17(6), 471–481, (2002).

34. Razumilava, N., & Gores, G. J., "Combination of gemcitabine and cisplatin for biliary tract cancer: A platform to build on," Journal of Hepatology, 54(3), 577–578, (2011).

35. Razumilava, N., & Gores, G. J., "Cholangiocarcinoma," The Lancet, 383(9935), 2168–2179, (2014).

36. DeOliveira, M. L., Cunningham, S. C., Cameron, J. L., Kamangar, F., Winter, J. M., Lillemoe, K. D., ... Schulick, R. D., "Cholangiocarcinoma," Annals of Surgery, 245(5), 755–762, (2007).

37. Khan, S. A., Taylor-Robinson, S. D., Toledano, M. B., Beck, A., Elliott, P., & Thomas, H. C., "Changing international trends in mortality rates for liver, biliary and pancreatic tumours," Journal of Hepatology, 37(6), 806–813, (2002).

38. Nakeeb, A., Pitt, H. A., Sohn, T. A., Coleman, J., Abrams, R. A., Piantadosi, S., ... Cameron, J. L., "Cholangiocarcinoma. A spectrum of intrahepatic, perihilar, and distal tumors," Annals of Surgery, 224(4), 463-73; discussion 473-5, (1996).

39. Rizvi, S., & Gores, G. J., "Pathogenesis, Diagnosis, and Management of Cholangiocarcinoma," Gastroenterology, 145(6), 1215–1229, (2013).

40. Banales, J. M., Cardinale, V., Carpino, G., Marzioni, M., Andersen, J. B., Invernizzi, P., ... Alvaro, D., "Cholangiocarcinoma: current knowledge and future perspectives consensus statement from the European Network for the Study of Cholangiocarcinoma (ENS-CCA)," Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 13(5), 261–280, (2016).

41. Khan, S. A., Tavolari, S., & Brandi, G., "Cholangiocarcinoma: Epidemiology and risk factors," Liver International, liv.14095, (2019).

42. Rizvi, S., Khan, S. A., Hallemeier, C. L., Kelley, R. K., & Gores, G. J., "Cholangiocarcinoma — evolving concepts and therapeutic strategies," Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology, 15(2), 95–111, (2017).

43. Patel, T., "Cholangiocarcinoma—controversies and challenges," Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 8(4), 189–200, (2011).

44. Burak, K., Angulo, P., Pasha, T. M., Egan, K., Petz, J., & Lindor, K. D., "Incidence and Risk Factors for Cholangiocarcinoma in Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis," American Journal of Gastroenterology, 99(3), 523–526, (2004).

45. Kaewpitoon, N., Kaewpitoon, S.-J., & Pengsaa, P., "Opisthorchiasis in Thailand: review and current statü,". World Journal of Gastroenterology, 14(15), 2297–2302, (2008).

46. Kobayashi, S., Werneburg, N. W., Bronk, S. F., Kaufmann, S. H., & Gores, G.J., "Interleukin-6 contributes to Mcl-1 up-regulation and TRAIL resistance via an Akt-

signaling pathway in cholangiocarcinoma cells," Gastroenterology, 128(7), 2054–2065, (2005).

47. Lee, T. Y., Lee, S. S., Jung, S. W., Jeon, S. H., Yun, S.-C., Oh, H.-C., ... Suh, D. J., "Hepatitis B Virus Infection and Intrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma in Korea: A Case-Control Study," The American Journal of Gastroenterology, 103(7), 1716–1720, (2008).

48. Watanapa, P., & Watanapa, W. B., "Liver fluke-associated cholangiocarcinoma," British Journal of Surgery, 89(8), 962–970, (2002).

49. Sithithaworn, P., Yongvanit, P., Duenngai, K., Kiatsopit, N., & Pairojkul, C., "Roles of liver fluke infection as risk factor for cholangiocarcinoma," Journal of Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Sciences, 21(5), 301–308, (2014).

50. Kurathong, S., Lerdverasirikul, P., Wongpaitoon, V., Pramoolsinsap, C., Kanjanapitak, A., Varavithya, W., ... Brockelman, W. Y., "Opisthorchis viverrini infection and cholangiocarcinoma. A prospective, case-controlled study," Gastroenterology, 89(1), 151–156, (1985).

51. Parkin, D. M., Srivatanakul, P., Khlat, M., Chenvidhya, D., Chotiwan, P., Insiripong, S., ... Wild, C. P., "Liver cancer in Thailand. I. A case-control study of cholangiocarcinom," International Journal of Cancer, 48(3), 323–328, (1991).

52. Lindor, K. D., Kowdley, K. V, & Edwyn Harrison, M., "ACG Clinical Guideline: Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis," (2015).

53. Chapman, R. W., "Risk factors for biliary tract carcinogenesis," Annals of Oncology: Official Journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology, 10 Suppl 4, 308–311, (1999).

54. Lesurtel, M., Regimbeau, J. M., Farges, O., Colombat, M., Sauvanet, A., & Belghiti, J., "Intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma and hepatolithiasis: an unusual association in Western countries," European Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 14(9), 1025–1027, (2002).

55. Su, C. H., Shyr, Y. M., Lui, W. Y., & P'Eng, F. K., "Hepatolithiasis associated with cholangiocarcinoma," The British Journal of Surgery, 84(7), 969–973, (1997).

56. Cai, H., Kong, W.-T., Chen, C.-B., Shi, G.-M., Huang, C., Shen, Y.-H., & Sun, H.-C., "Cholelithiasis and the risk of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: a metaanalysis of observational studies," BMC Cancer, (2015).

57. Shaib, Y. H., El-Serag, H. B., Davila, J. A., Morgan, R., & McGlynn, K. A., "Risk factors of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma in the United States: a case-control study," Gastroenterology, 128(3), 620–626, (2005).

58. Welzel, T. M., Graubard, B. I., Zeuzem, S., El-Serag, H. B., Davila, J. A., & McGlynn, K. A., "Metabolic syndrome increases the risk of primary liver cancer in the United States: A study in the SEER-medicare database," Hepatology, 54(2), 463–471, (2011).

59. Welzel, T. M., Mellemkjaer, L., Gloria, G., Sakoda, L. C., Hsing, A. W., Ghormli, L. El, ... McGlynn, K. A., "Risk factors for intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma in a low-risk population: A nationwide case-control study," International Journal of Cancer, 120(3), 638–641, (2007).

60. Chapman, R. W., "Risk factors for biliary tract carcinogenesis," Annals of Oncology: Official Journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology, 10 Suppl 4, 308–311, (1999).

61. Lipsett, P. A., Pitt, H. A., Colombani, P. M., Boitnott, J. K., & Cameron, J. L., "Choledochal cyst disease. A changing pattern of presentation," Annals of Surgery, 220(5), 644–652, (1994).

62. Söreide, K., Körner, H., Havnen, J., & Söreide, J. A. "Bile duct cysts in adults," British Journal of Surgery, 91(12), 1538–1548, (2004).

63. Grainge, M. J., West, J., Solaymani-Dodaran, M., Aithal, G. P., & Card, T. R., "The antecedents of biliary cancer: a primary care case-control study in the United Kingdom," British Journal of Cancer, 100(1), 178–180, (2009). 64. Welzel, T. M., Graubard, B. I., Zeuzem, S., El-Serag, H. B., Davila, J. A., & McGlynn, K. A., "Metabolic syndrome increases the risk of primary liver cancer in the United States: A study in the SEER-medicare database," Hepatology, 54(2), 463–471, (2011).

65. Fava, G., Alpini, G., Rychlicki, C., Saccomanno, S., DeMorrow, S., Trozzi, L., ... Benedetti, A., "Leptin Enhances Cholangiocarcinoma Cell Growth," Cancer Research, 68(16), 6752–6761, (2008).

66. Palmer, W. C., & Patel, T., "Are common factors involved in the pathogenesis of primary liver cancers? A meta-analysis of risk factors for intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma," Journal of Hepatology, 57(1), 69–76, (2012).

67. Shaib, Y. H., El-Serag, H. B., Nooka, A. K., Thomas, M., Brown, T. D., Patt, Y. Z., & Hassan, M. M., "Risk Factors for Intrahepatic and Extrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma: A Hospital-Based Case?Control Study," The American Journal of Gastroenterology, 102(5), 1016–1021, (2007).

68. Kinoshita, M., Kubo, S., Tanaka, S., Takemura, S., Nishioka, T., Hamano, G., ... Shibata, T., "The association between non-alcoholic steatohepatitis and intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: A hospital based case-control study," Journal of Surgical Oncology, 113(7), 779–783, (2016).

69. Nomoto, K., Tsuneyama, K., Cheng, C., Takahashi, H., Hori, R., Murai, Y., & Takano, Y., "Intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma arising in cirrhotic liver frequently expressed p63-positive basal/stem-cell phenotype," Pathology - Research and Practice, 202(2), 71–76, (2006).

70. Razumilava, N., Gradilone, S. A., Smoot, R. L., Mertens, J. C., Bronk, S. F., Sirica, A. E., & Gores, G. J., "Non-canonical Hedgehog signaling contributes to chemotaxis in cholangiocarcinoma," Journal of Hepatology, 60(3), 599–605, (2014).

71. Key Statistics About Bile Duct Cancer. Retrieved April 29, 2019, from https://www.cancer.org/cancer/bile-duct-cancer/about/key-statistics.html

72. Blechacz, B., Komuta, M., Roskams, T., & Gores, G. J., "Clinical diagnosis and staging of cholangiocarcinoma," Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 8(9), 512–522, (2011).

73. Razumilava, N., Gradilone, S. A., Smoot, R. L., Mertens, J. C., Bronk, S. F., Sirica, A. E., & Gores, G. J., "Non-canonical Hedgehog signaling contributes to chemotaxis in cholangiocarcinoma," (2013).

74. Yamasaki, S., "Intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: macroscopic type and stage classification," Journal of Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Surgery, 10(4), 288–291, (2003).

75. Rimola, J., Forner, A., Reig, M., Vilana, R., de Lope, C. R., Ayuso, C., & Bruix, J., "Cholangiocarcinoma in cirrhosis: Absence of contrast washout in delayed phases by magnetic resonance imaging avoids misdiagnosis of hepatocellular carcinoma," Hepatology, 50(3), 791–798, (2009).

76. Nakanuma, Y. and Kakuda, Y., "Pathologic classification of cholangiocarcinom," New concepts', Best Practice & Research Clinical Gastroenterology, 29(2), pp. 277–293, (2015)

77. Nakanuma, Y., Sato, Y., Harada, K., Sasaki, M., Xu, J., & Ikeda, H., "Pathological classification of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma based on a new concept," World Journal of Hepatology, 2(12), 419–427, (2010).

78. Yamasaki, S., "Intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: macroscopic type and stage classification," Journal of Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Surgery, 10(4), 288–291, (2003).

79. Shaib, Y., & El-Serag, H., "The Epidemiology of Cholangiocarcinoma. Seminars in Liver Disease," 24(02), 115–125, (2004).

80. Weinbren, K., & Mutum, S. S., "Pathological aspects of cholangiocarcinoma," The Journal of Pathology, 139(2), 217–238, (1983).

81. Katabi, N., Torres, J., & Klimstra, D. S., "Intraductal Tubular Neoplasms of the Bile Duct," The American Journal of Surgical Pathology, 36(11), 1647–1655, (2012).

82. Iavarone, M., Piscaglia, F., Vavassori, S., Galassi, M., Sangiovanni, A., Venerandi, L., ... Colombo, M., "Contrast enhanced CT-scan to diagnose intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma in patients with cirrhosis," Journal of Hepatology, 58(6), 1188–1193, (2013).

83. Anderson, C. D., Rice, M. H., Pinson, C. W., Chapman, W. C., Chari, R. S., & Delbeke, D., "Fluorodeoxyglucose PET imaging in the evaluation of gallbladder carcinoma and cholangiocarcinoma," Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery: Official Journal of the Society for Surgery of the Alimentary Tract, 8(1), 90–97, (2004).

84. Lan, B. Y., Kwee, S. A., & Wong, L. L., "Positron emission tomography in hepatobiliary and pancreatic malignancies: a review," The American Journal of Surgery, 204(2), 232–241, (2012).

85. Galassi, M., Iavarone, M., Rossi, S., Bota, S., Vavassori, S., Rosa, L., ... Piscaglia, F., "Patterns of appearance and risk of misdiagnosis of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma in cirrhosis at contrast enhanced ultrasound," Liver International, 33(5), 771–779, (2013).

86. Nehls, O., Gregor, M., & Klump, B., "Serum and Bile Markers for Cholangiocarcinoma," Seminars in Liver Disease, 24(02), 139–154, (2004).

87. Endo, I., Gonen, M., Yopp, A. C., Dalal, K. M., Zhou, Q., Klimstra, D., ... Jarnagin, W. R., "Intrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma," Annals of Surgery, 248(1), 84–96, (2008).

88. Sapisochin, G., Fidelman, N., Roberts, J. P., & Yao, F. Y., "Mixed hepatocellular cholangiocarcinoma and intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma in patients undergoing transplantation for hepatocellular carcinoma," Liver Transplantation, 17(8), 934–942, (2011).

89. Park, S.-Y., Kim, J. H., Yoon, H.-J., Lee, I.-S., Yoon, H.-K., & Kim, K.-P., "Transarterial chemoembolization versus supportive therapy in the palliative treatment of unresectable intrahepatic cholangiocarcinom," Clinical Radiology, 66(4), 322–328, (2011).

90. Kiefer, M. V., Albert, M., McNally, M., Robertson, M., Sun, W., Fraker, D., ... Soulen, M. C., "Chemoembolization of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma with cisplatinum, doxorubicin, mitomycin C, ethiodol, and polyvinyl alcohol," Cancer, 117(7), 1498–1505, (2011).

91. Vogl, T. J., Naguib, N. N. N., Nour-Eldin, N.-E. A., Bechstein, W. O., Zeuzem, S., Trojan, J., & Gruber-Rouh, T., "Transarterial chemoembolization in the

treatment of patients with unresectable cholangiocarcinoma: Results and prognostic factors governing treatment success," International Journal of Cancer, 131(3), 733–740, (2012).

92. Valle, J., Wasan, H., Palmer, D. H., Cunningham, D., Anthoney, A., Maraveyas, A., ... Bridgewater, J., "Cisplatin plus Gemcitabine versus Gemcitabine for Biliary Tract Cancer.," New England Journal of Medicine, 362(14), 1273–1281, (2010).

93. Hoffmann, R.-T., Paprottka, P. M., Schön, A., Bamberg, F., Haug, A., Dürr, E.-M., ... Kolligs, F. T., "Transarterial Hepatic Yttrium-90 Radioembolization in Patients with Unresectable Intrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma: Factors Associated with Prolonged Survival," CardioVascular and Interventional Radiology, 35(1), 105–116, (2012).

94. Lee, M., Banerjee, S., Posner, M. C., Cartwright, C. A., Lee, M., Banerjee, S., ... Posner, M. C., "Distal Extrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma Presenting as Cholangitis Case Presentation and Evolution," Dig Dis Sci, 55, 1852–1855, (2010).

95. Siddiqui, A. A., Mehendiratta, V., Jackson, W., Loren, D. E., Kowalski, T. E., & Eloubeidi, M. A., "Identification of Cholangiocarcinoma by Using the Spyglass Spyscope System for Peroral Cholangioscopy and Biopsy Collection," Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology, 10(5), 466–471, (2012).

96. Razumilava, N., Gradilone, S. A., Smoot, R. L., Mertens, J. C., Bronk, S. F., Sirica, A. E., & Gores, G. J., "Non-canonical Hedgehog signaling contributes to chemotaxis in cholangiocarcinoma," (2013).

97. Nehls, O., Gregor, M., & Klump, B., "Serum and Bile Markers for Cholangiocarcinoma," Seminars in Liver Disease, 24(02), 139–154, (2004).

98. DeOliveira, M. L. et al., "New staging system and a registry for perihilar cholangiocarcinoma," Hepatology, 53(4), (2011).

99. Ruys, A. T., van Beem, B. E., Engelbrecht, M. R. W., Bipat, S., Stoker, J., & Van Gulik, T. M., "Radiological staging in patients with hilar cholangiocarcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis," The British Journal of Radiology, 85(1017), 1255–1262, (2012).

100. Charatcharoenwitthaya, P., Enders, F. B., Halling, K. C., & Lindor, K. D., "Utility of serum tumor markers, imaging, and biliary cytology for detecting cholangiocarcinoma in primary sclerosing cholangitis," Hepatology, 48(4), 1106–1117, (2008).

101. Oseini, A. M., Chaiteerakij, R., Shire, A. M., Ghazale, A., Kaiya, J., Moser, C. D., ... Roberts, L. R., "Utility of serum immunoglobulin G4 in distinguishing immunoglobulin G4-associated cholangitis from cholangiocarcinoma," Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.), 54(3), 940–948, (2011).

102. Rosen, C. B., Heimbach, J. K., & Gores, G. J., "Liver transplantation for cholangiocarcinoma," Transplant International, 23(7), 692–697, (2010).

103. Raju, R. P., Jaganmohan, S. R., Ross, W. A., Davila, M. L., Javle, M., Raju,
G. S., & Lee, J. H., "Optimum Palliation of Inoperable Hilar Cholangiocarcinoma: Comparative Assessment of the Efficacy of Plastic and Self-Expanding Metal Stents," Digestive Diseases and Sciences, 56(5), 1557–1564, (2011).

104. Soderlund, C., & Linder, S., "Covered metal versus plastic stents for malignant common bile duct stenosis: a prospective, randomized, controlled trial," Gastrointestinal Endoscopy, 63(7), 986–995, (2006).

105. Yeoh, K. G., Zimmerman, M. J., Cunningham, J. T., & Cotton, P. B., "Comparative costs of metal versus plastic biliary stent strategies for malignant obstructive jaundice by decision analysis," Gastrointestinal Endoscopy, 49(4 Pt 1), 466– 471, (1999).

106. Wadsworth, C. A., Westaby, D., & Khan, S. A., "Endoscopic radiofrequency ablation for cholangiocarcinoma," Current Opinion in Gastroenterology, 29(3), 305–311, (2013).

107. Haraguchi, N., Ishii, H., Mimori, K., Tanaka, F., Ohkuma, M., Kim, H. M., ... Mori, M., "CD13 is a therapeutic target in human liver cancer stem cells," Journal of Clinical Investigation, 120(9), 3326–3339, (2010).

108. Leelawat, K., Thongtawee, T., Narong, S., Subwongcharoen, S., & Treepongkaruna, S., "Strong expression of CD133 is associated with increased

68

cholangiocarcinoma progression," World Journal of Gastroenterology, 17(9), 1192–1198, (2011).

109. Sukowati, C. H. C., Anfuso, B., Torre, G., Francalanci, P., Crocè, L. S., & Tiribelli, C., "The Expression of CD90/Thy-1 in Hepatocellular Carcinoma: An In Vivo and In Vitro Study," PLoS ONE, 8(10), e76830, (2013).

110. Kreso, A., & Dick, J. E., "Evolution of the Cancer Stem Cell Model," Cell Stem Cell, 14(3), 275–291, (2014).

111. Govaere, O., Wouters, J., Petz, M., Vandewynckel, Y.-P., Van den Eynde, K., Van den broeck, A., ... Roskams, T., "Laminin-332 sustains chemoresistance and quiescence as part of the human hepatic cancer stem cell niche," Journal of Hepatology, 64(3), 609–617, (2016).

112. Alvaro, D., Mancino, M. G., Glaser, S., Gaudio, E., Marzioni, M., Francis, H., & Alpini, G., "Proliferating Cholangiocytes: A Neuroendocrine Compartment in the Diseased Liver," Gastroenterology, 132(1), 415–431, (2007).

113. Cardinale, V., Carpino, G., Reid, L., Gaudio, E., & Alvaro, D., "Multiple cells of origin in cholangiocarcinoma underlie biological, epidemiological and clinical heterogeneity," World Journal of Gastrointestinal Oncology, 4(5), 94, (2012).

114. Boulter, L., Guest, R. V., Kendall, T. J., Wilson, D. H., Wojtacha, D., Robson, A. J., ... Forbes, S. J., "WNT signaling drives cholangiocarcinoma growth and can be pharmacologically inhibited," Journal of Clinical Investigation, 125(3), 1269–1285, (2015).

115. Jaiswal, M., LaRusso, N. F., & Gores, G. J., "Nitric oxide in gastrointestinal epithelial cell carcinogenesis: linking inflammation to oncogenesis," American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 281(3), G626–G634, (2001).

116. Okada, K., Shimizu, Y., Nambu, S., Higuchi, K., & Watanabe, A., "Interleukin-6 functions as an autocrine growth factor in a cholangiocarcinoma cell line," Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, 9(5), 462–467

117. Blechacz, B., & Gores, G. J., "Cholangiocarcinoma: Advances in pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment," Hepatology, 48(1), 308–321, (2008).

118. Bodnar, A. G., Ouellette, M., Frolkis, M., Holt, S. E., Chiu, C. P., Morin, G. B., ... Wright, W. E., "Extension of life-span by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells," Science (New York, N.Y.), 279(5349), 349–352, (1998).

119. Ozaki, S., Harada, K., Sanzen, T., Watanabe, K., Tsui, W., & Nakanuma, Y., "In Situ Nucleic Acid Detection of Human Telomerase in Intrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma and Its Preneoplastic Lesion," (1999).

120. Itoi, T. et al., 'Detection of telomerase activity in biopsy specimens for diagnosis of biliary tract cancers," Gastrointestinal Endoscopy, 52(3), pp. 380–386, (2000)

121. Yamagiwa, Y., Meng, F. and Patel, T., "Interleukin-6 decreases senescence and increases telomerase activity in malignant human cholangiocytes," Life sciences, (2006).

122. Yoon, J.-H. et al., "Enhanced epidermal growth factor receptor activation in human cholangiocarcinoma cells," Journal of Hepatology, 41(5), pp. 808–814, (2004).

123. Wehbe, H., Henson, R., Meng, F., Mize-Berge, J., & Patel, T., "Interleukin-6 Contributes to Growth in Cholangiocarcinoma Cells by Aberrant Promoter Methylation and Gene Expression," Cancer Research, 66(21), 10517–10524, (2006).

124. Kiguchi, K., Carbajal, S., Chan, K., Beltrán, L., Ruffino, L., Shen, J., ... DiGiovanni, J., "Constitutive expression of ErbB-2 in gallbladder epithelium results in development of adenocarcinoma," Cancer Research, 61(19), 6971–6976, (2001).

125. Wu, T., Leng, J., Han, C., & Demetris, A. J. "The cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor celecoxib blocks phosphorylation of Akt and induces apoptosis in human cholangiocarcinoma cells," Molecular Cancer Therapeutics, 3(3), 299–307, (2004).

126. Zhang, Z., Lai, G.-H., & Sirica, A. E., "Celecoxib-induced apoptosis in rat cholangiocarcinoma cells mediated by Akt inactivation and Bax translocation," Hepatology, 39(4), 1028–1037, (2004).

127. Yoon, J.-H. et al., "Bile acids induce cyclooxygenase-2 expression via the epidermal growth factor receptor in a human cholangiocarcinoma cell line," Gastroenterology, 122(4), pp. 985–93, (2002).

70

128. Ishimura, N., Bronk, S. F., & Gores, G. J., "Inducible nitric oxide synthase upregulates cyclooxygenase-2 in mouse cholangiocytes promoting cell growth," American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 287(1), G88–G95, (2004).

129. Lai, G.-H., Radaeva, S., Nakamura, T., & Sirica, A. E., "Unique epithelial cell production of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor by putative precancerous intestinal metaplasias and associated "intestinal-type" biliary cancer chemically induced in rat liver," Hepatology, 31(6), 1257–1265, (2000).

130. Ong, C. K., Subimerb, C., Pairojkul, C., Wongkham, S., Cutcutache, I., Yu,
W., ... Teh, B. T., "Exome sequencing of liver fluke–associated cholangiocarcinoma,"
Nature Genetics, 44(6), 690–693, (2012).

131. Chan-on, W., Nairismägi, M.-L., Ong, C. K., Lim, W. K., Dima, S., Pairojkul, C., ... Teh, B. T., "Exome sequencing identifies distinct mutational patterns in liver fluke–related and non-infection-related bile duct cancers," Nature Genetics, 45(12), 1474–1478, (2013).

132. Blechacz, B., "Cholangiocarcinoma: Current Knowledge and New Developments," Gut and Liver, 11(1), 13–26, (2017).

133. Jiao, Y., Pawlik, T. M., Anders, R. A., Selaru, F. M., Streppel, M. M., Lucas, D. J., ... Wood, L. D., "Exome sequencing identifies frequent inactivating mutations in BAP1, ARID1A and PBRM1 in intrahepatic cholangiocarcinomas," Nature Genetics, 45(12), 1470–1473, (2013).

134. Voss, J. S., Holtegaard, L. M., Kerr, S. E., Fritcher, E. G. B., Roberts, L. R., Gores, G. J., ... Kipp, B. R., "Molecular profiling of cholangiocarcinoma shows potential for targeted therapy treatment decisions," Human Pathology, 44(7), 1216–1222, (2013).

135. Borad, M. J., Gores, G. J. and Roberts, L. R., "Fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 fusions as a target for treating cholangiocarcinoma," Current Opinion in Gastroenterology, 31(3), (2015)

136. Sia, D., Losic, B., Moeini, A., Cabellos, L., Hao, K., Revill, K., ... Llovet, J.M., "Massive parallel sequencing uncovers actionable FGFR2–PPHLN1 fusion and

ARAF mutations in intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma," Nature Communications, 6(1), 6087, (2015).

137. Franchitto, A., Onori, P., Renzi, A., Carpino, G., Mancinelli, R., Alvaro, D., & Gaudio, E., "Recent advances on the mechanisms regulating cholangiocyte proliferation and the significance of the neuroendocrine regulation of cholangiocyte pathophysiology," Annals of Translational Medicine, 1(3), 27, (2013).

138. Alvaro, D., Barbaro, B., Franchitto, A., Onori, P., Glaser, S. S., Alpini, G., ... Gaudio, E., "Estrogens and Insulin-Like Growth Factor 1 Modulate Neoplastic Cell Growth in Human Cholangiocarcinoma," The American Journal of Pathology, 169(3), 877–888, (2006).

139. Marzioni, M., Torrice, A., Saccomanno, S., Rychlicki, C., Agostinelli, L., Pierantonelli, I., ... Nilsson, S., "An oestrogen receptor β -selective agonist exerts antineoplastic effects in experimental intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma," Digestive and Liver Disease, 44(2), 134–142, (2012).

140. Pawar, P., Ma, L., Byon, C. H., Liu, H., Ahn, E.-Y., Jhala, N., ... Chen, Y., "Molecular mechanisms of tamoxifen therapy for cholangiocarcinoma: role of calmodulin," Clinical Cancer Research : An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research, 15(4), 1288–1296, (2009).

141. Mancino, A., Mancino, M. G., Glaser, S. S., Alpini, G., Bolognese, A., Izzo, L., ... Alvaro, D., "Estrogens stimulate the proliferation of human cholangiocarcinoma by inducing the expression and secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor. Digestive and Liver Disease," Official Journal of the Italian Society of Gastroenterology and the Italian Association for the Study of the Liver, 41(2), 156–163, (2009).

142. Isse, K., Specht, S. M., Lunz, J. G., Kang, L.-I., Mizuguchi, Y., & Demetris, A. J., "Estrogen stimulates female biliary epithelial cell interleukin-6 expression in mice and humans," Hepatology, 51(3), 869–880, (2010).

143. Alvaro, D., Mancino, M. G., Glaser, S., Gaudio, E., Marzioni, M., Francis, H., & Alpini, G., "Proliferating Cholangiocytes: A Neuroendocrine Compartment in the Diseased Liver," Gastroenterology, 132(1), 415–431, (2007).

144. Hanahan, D., & Coussens, L. M., "Accessories to the Crime: Functions of Cells Recruited to the Tumor Microenvironment," Cancer Cell, 21(3), 309–322, (2012).

145. Høgdall, D., Lewinska, M., & Andersen, J. B., "Desmoplastic Tumor Microenvironment and Immunotherapy in Cholangiocarcinoma," Trends in Cancer, 4(3), 239–255, (2018).

146. Kitano, Y., Okabe, H., Yamashita, Y., Nakagawa, S., Saito, Y., Umezaki, N., ... Baba, H., "Tumour-infiltrating inflammatory and immune cells in patients with extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma," British Journal of Cancer, 118(2), 171–180, (2018).

147. Raggi, C., Correnti, M., Sica, A., Andersen, J. B., Cardinale, V., Alvaro, D., ... Invernizzi, P., "Cholangiocarcinoma stem-like subset shapes tumor-initiating niche by educating associated macrophages," Journal of Hepatology, 66(1), 102–115, (2017).

148. Hasita, H., Komohara, Y., Okabe, H., Masuda, T., Ohnishi, K., Lei, X. F., ... Takeya, M., "Significance of alternatively activated macrophages in patients with intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma," Cancer Science, 101(8), 1913–1919, (2010).

149. Thanee, M., Loilome, W., Techasen, A., Namwat, N., Boonmars, T., Pairojkul, C., & Yongvanit, P., "Quantitative changes in tumor-associated M2 macrophages characterize cholangiocarcinoma and their association with metastasis," Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention : APJCP, 16(7), 3043–3050, (2015).

150. Techasen, A., Loilome, W., Namwat, N., Dokduang, H., Jongthawin, J., & Yongvanit, P., "Cytokines released from activated human macrophages induce epithelial mesenchymal transition markers of cholangiocarcinoma cells," Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention : APJCP, 13 Suppl, 115–118, (2012).

151. Zhou, S.-L., Dai, Z., Zhou, Z.-J., Chen, Q., Wang, Z., Xiao, Y.-S., ... Zhou, J., "CXCL5 contributes to tumor metastasis and recurrence of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma by recruiting infiltrative intratumoral neutrophils," Carcinogenesis, 35(3), 597–605, (2014).

152. Onodera, M., Zen, Y., Harada, K., Sato, Y., Ikeda, H., Itatsu, K., ... Nakanuma, Y., "Fascin is involved in tumor necrosis factor- α -dependent production of MMP9 in cholangiocarcinoma," Laboratory Investigation, 89(11), 1261–1274, (2009). 153. Seubwai, W., Wongkham, C., Puapairoj, A., Khuntikeo, N., Pugkhem, A., Hahnvajanawong, C., ... Wongkham, S., "Aberrant Expression of NF-κB in Liver Fluke Associated Cholangiocarcinoma," Implications for Targeted Therapy, PLoS ONE, 9(8), (2014)

154. Tanimura, Y., Kokuryo, T., Tsunoda, N., Yamazaki, Y., Oda, K., Nimura, Y., ... Hamaguchi, M., "Tumor necrosis factor α promotes invasiveness of cholangiocarcinoma cells via its receptor, TNFR2," Cancer Letters, 219(2), 205–213, (2005).

155. Yuan, D., Huang, S., Berger, E., Liu, L., Gross, N., Heinzmann, F., ... Heikenwalder, M., "Kupffer Cell-Derived Tnf Triggers Cholangiocellular Tumorigenesis through JNK due to Chronic Mitochondrial Dysfunction and ROS," Cancer Cell, 31(6), 771–789, (2017).

156. Chen, Y., Ma, L., He, Q., Zhang, S., Zhang, C., & Jia, W., "TGF-β1 expression is associated with invasion and metastasis of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma," Biological Research, 48(1), 26, (2015).

157. Wang, H., Li, C., Jian, Z., Ou, Y., & Ou, J., "TGF-β1 Reduces miR-29a Expression to Promote Tumorigenicity and Metastasis of Cholangiocarcinoma by Targeting HDAC4," PLOS ONE, 10(10), (2015).

158. Mu, X., Pradere, J.-P., Affò, S., Dapito, D. H., Friedman, R., Lefkovitch, J. H., & Schwabe, R. F., "Epithelial Transforming Growth Factor-β Signaling Does Not Contribute to Liver Fibrosis but Protects Mice From Cholangiocarcinoma," Gastroenterology, 150(3), 720–733, (2016).

159. Borad, M. J., Champion, M. D., Egan, J. B., Liang, W. S., Fonseca, R., Bryce, A. H., ... Carpten, J. D., "Integrated Genomic Characterization Reveals Novel, Therapeutically Relevant Drug Targets in FGFR and EGFR Pathways in Sporadic Intrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma," PLoS Genetics, 10(2), (2014).

160. Fujimoto, A., Furuta, M., Shiraishi, Y., Gotoh, K., Kawakami, Y., Arihiro, K., ... Nakagawa, H., "Whole-genome mutational landscape of liver cancers displaying biliary phenotype reveals hepatitis impact and molecular diversity," Nature Communications, 6(1), 6120, (2015).

74

161. Gao, Q., Zhao, Y., Wang, X., Guo, W., Gao, S., Wei, L., ... Fan, J., "Activating Mutations in PTPN3 Promote Cholangiocarcinoma Cell Proliferation and Migration and Are Associated With Tumor Recurrence in Patients," Gastroenterology, 146(5), 1397–1407, (2014).

162. Nakamura, H., Arai, Y., Totoki, Y., Shirota, T., Elzawahry, A., Kato, M., ... Shibata, T., "Genomic spectra of biliary tract cancer," Nature Genetics, 47(9), 1003– 1010, (2015).

163. Ong, C. K. et al., "Exome sequencing of liver fluke-associated cholangiocarcinoma," Nature Genetics, 44(6), (2012)

164. Lee, D., Do, I.-G., Choi, K., Sung, C. O., Jang, K.-T., Choi, D., ... Kim, D. S., "The expression of phospho-AKT1 and phospho-MTOR is associated with a favorable prognosis independent of PTEN expression in intrahepatic cholangiocarcinomas," Modern Pathology, 25(1), 131–139, (2012).

165. Chung, J.-Y., Hong, S.-M., Choi, B. Y., Cho, H., Yu, E., & Hewitt, S. M., "The Expression of Phospho-AKT, Phospho-mTOR, and PTEN in Extrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma," Clinical Cancer Research, 15(2), 660–667, (2009).

166. Ross, J. S., Wang, K., Gay, L., Al-Rohil, R., Rand, J. V., Jones, D. M., ... Stephens, P. J., "New Routes to Targeted Therapy of Intrahepatic Cholangiocarcinomas Revealed by Next-Generation Sequencing," The Oncologist, 19(3), 235–242, (2014).

167. Arai, Y., Totoki, Y., Hosoda, F., Shirota, T., Hama, N., Nakamura, H., ... Shibata, T., "Fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 tyrosine kinase fusions define a unique molecular subtype of cholangiocarcinoma," Hepatology, 59(4), 1427–1434, (2014).

168. Borger, D. R., Tanabe, K. K., Fan, K. C., Lopez, H. U., Fantin, V. R., Straley, K. S., ... Iafrate, A. J., "Frequent Mutation of Isocitrate Dehydrogenase (IDH)1 and IDH2 in Cholangiocarcinoma Identified Through Broad-Based Tumor Genotyping," The Oncologist, 17(1), 72–79, (2012).

169. Kipp, B. R., Voss, J. S., Kerr, S. E., Barr Fritcher, E. G., Graham, R. P., Zhang, L., ... Halling, K. C., "Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 and 2 mutations in cholangiocarcinoma," Human Pathology, 43(10), 1552–1558, (2012).

170. Wang, P., Dong, Q., Zhang, C., Kuan, P.-F., Liu, Y., Jeck, W. R., ... Chiang, D. Y., "Mutations in isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 and 2 occur frequently in intrahepatic cholangiocarcinomas and share hypermethylation targets with glioblastomas," Oncogene, 32(25), 3091–3100, (2013).

171. Reitman, Z. J., Parsons, D. W., & Yan, H., "IDH1 and IDH2: Not Your Typical Oncogenes" Cancer Cell, 17(3), 215–216, (2010).

172. Rohle, D., Popovici-Muller, J., Palaskas, N., Turcan, S., Grommes, C., Campos, C., ... Mellinghoff, I. K., "An Inhibitor of Mutant IDH1 Delays Growth and Promotes Differentiation of Glioma Cells," Science, 340(6132), 626–630, (2013).

173. Saha, S. K., Parachoniak, C. A., Ghanta, K. S., Fitamant, J., Ross, K. N., Najem, M. S., ... Bardeesy, N., "Mutant IDH inhibits HNF-4 α to block hepatocyte differentiation and promote biliary cancer," Nature, 513(7516), 110–114, (2014).

174. Gradilone, S. A., Radtke, B. N., Bogert, P. S., Huang, B. Q., Gajdos, G. B., & LaRusso, N. F., "HDAC6 Inhibition Restores Ciliary Expression and Decreases Tumor Growth," Cancer Research, 73(7), 2259–2270, (2013).

175. El Khatib, M., Bozko, P., Palagani, V., Malek, N. P., Wilkens, L., & Plentz, R. R., "Activation of Notch Signaling Is Required for Cholangiocarcinoma Progression and Is Enhanced by Inactivation of p53 In Vivo," PLoS ONE, 8(10), e77433, (2013).

176. El Khatib, M., Kalnytska, A., Palagani, V., Kossatz, U., Manns, M. P., Malek, N. P., ... Plentz, R. R., "Inhibition of hedgehog signaling attenuates carcinogenesis in vitro and increases necrosis of cholangiocellular carcinoma," Hepatology, 57(3), 1035–1045, (2013).

177. Ewald, F., Nörz, D., Grottke, A., Hofmann, B. T., Nashan, B., & Jücker, M., "Dual Inhibition of PI3K-AKT-mTOR- and RAF-MEK-ERK-signaling is synergistic in cholangiocarcinoma and reverses acquired resistance to MEK-inhibitors," Investigational New Drugs, 32(6), 1144–1154, (2014).

178. Sia, D., Hoshida, Y., Villanueva, A., Roayaie, S., Ferrer, J., Tabak, B., ... Llovet, J. M., "Integrative Molecular Analysis of Intrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma Reveals 2 Classes That Have Different Outcomes," Gastroenterology, 144(4), 829–840, (2013). 179. Wutka, A., Palagani, V., Barat, S., Chen, X., El Khatib, M., Götze, J., ... Plentz, R. R., "Capsaicin Treatment Attenuates Cholangiocarcinoma Carcinogenesis," PLoS ONE, 9(4), (2014).

180. Zender, S., Nickeleit, I., Wuestefeld, T., Sörensen, I., Dauch, D., Bozko, P., ... Malek, N. P., "A Critical Role for Notch Signaling in the Formation of Cholangiocellular Carcinomas," Cancer Cell, 23(6), 784–795, (2013).

181. Sansone, P., & Bromberg, J., "Targeting the Interleukin-6/Jak/Stat Pathway in Human Malignancies," Journal of Clinical Oncology, 30(9), 1005–1014, (2012).

182. Andersen, J. B., Spee, B., Blechacz, B. R., Avital, I., Komuta, M., Barbour, A., ... Thorgeirsson, S. S., "Genomic and Genetic Characterization of Cholangiocarcinoma Identifies Therapeutic Targets for Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors," Gastroenterology, 142(4), 1021–1031, (2012).

183. Koch, U., & Radtke, F., "Notch signaling in solid tumors," Current Topics in Developmental Biology, 92, 411–455, (2010).

184. Rizvi, S., Borad, M. J., Patel, T., & Gores, G. J., "Cholangiocarcinoma: Molecular Pathways and Therapeutic Opportunities," (2014).

185. Artavanis-Tsakonas, S., Rand, M. D., & Lake, R. J., "Notch signaling: cell fate control and signal integration in development," Science (New York, N.Y.), 284(5415), 770–776, (1999).

186. Fan, B., Malato, Y., Calvisi, D. F., Naqvi, S., Razumilava, N., Ribback, S., ... Willenbring, H., "Cholangiocarcinomas can originate from hepatocytes in mice," The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 122(8), 2911–2915, (2012).

187. Sekiya, S., & Suzuki, A., "Intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma can arise from Notch-mediated conversion of hepatocytes," Journal of Clinical Investigation, 122(11), 3914–3918, (2012).

188. Hou, Y.-J., Dong, L.-W., Tan, Y.-X., Yang, G.-Z., Pan, Y.-F., Li, Z., ... Wang, H.-Y., "Inhibition of active autophagy induces apoptosis and increases chemosensitivity in cholangiocarcinoma," Laboratory Investigation, 91, 1146–1157, (2011). 189. Klionsky, D. J., & Emr, S. D., "Autophagy as a regulated pathway of cellular degradation," Science (New York, N.Y.), 290(5497), 1717–1721, (2000).

190. Kondo, Y., Kanzawa, T., Sawaya, R., & Kondo, S., "The role of autophagy in cancer development and response to therapy," Nature Reviews Cancer, 5(9), 726–734, (2005).

191. Meijer, A. J., & Codogno, P., "Regulation and role of autophagy in mammalian cells," The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 36(12), 2445–2462, (2004).

192. Kondo, Y., Kanzawa, T., Sawaya, R., & Kondo, S., "The role of autophagy in cancer development and response to therapy," Nature Reviews Cancer, 5(9), 726–734, (2005).

193. Larsen, K. E., & Sulzer, D., "Autophagy in neurons: a review," Histology and Histopathology, 17(3), 897–908, (2002).

194. Nishino, I., "Autophagic vacuolar myopathies," Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports, 3(1), 64–69, (2003).

195. Milla, L. A., González-Ramírez, C. N., & Palma, V., "Sonic Hedgehog in cancer stem cells: a novel link with autophagy," Biological Research, 45(3), 223–230, (2012).

196. Nakatogawa, H., Suzuki, K., Kamada, Y., & Ohsumi, Y., "Dynamics and diversity in autophagy mechanisms: lessons from yeast," Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 10(7), 458–467, (2009).

197. Denton, D., Nicolson, S., & Kumar, S., "Cell death by autophagy: facts and apparent artefacts," Cell Death & Differentiation, 19(1), 87–95, (2012).

198. Levine, B., & Kroemer, G., "Autophagy in the Pathogenesis of Disease," Cell, 132(1), 27–42, (2008).

199. Pasquier, B., "Autophagy inhibitors," Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 73(5), 985–1001, (2016).

200. Yang, Z., & Klionsky, D. J.," Eaten alive: a history of macroautophagy,".Nature CellBiology,12(9),814–822,(2010).

201. Memmott, R. M., & Dennis, P. A., 'Akt-dependent and -independent mechanisms of mTOR regulation in cancer," Cellular Signalling, 21(5), 656–664 (2009).

202. Fingar, D. C., & Blenis, J.," Target of rapamycin (TOR): an integrator of nutrient and growth factor signals and coordinator of cell growth and cell cycle progression," Oncogene, 23(18), 3151–3171,(2004).

203. Kelly, K. R., Rowe, J. H., Padmanabhan, S., Nawrocki, S. T., & Carew, J. S.,'' Mammalian target of rapamycin as a target in hematological malignancies,'' Targeted Oncology,6(1),53–61,(2011).

204. Martini, M., De Santis, M. C., Braccini, L., Gulluni, F., & Hirsch, E., 'PI3K/AKT signaling pathway and cancer: an updated review," Annals of Medicine, 46(6), 372–383,(2014).

205. Polivka, J., & Janku, F., 'Molecular targets for cancer therapy in the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway,''. Pharmacology & Therapeutics, 142(2), 164–175,(2014).

206. Chan, E. Y., ''Regulation and Function of Uncoordinated-51 Like Kinase Proteins,''. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling, 17(5), 775–785,(2012).

207. Chuang, Y., Hung, M. E., Cangelose, B. K., & Leonard, J. N., 'Regulation of the IL-10-driven macrophage phenotype under incoherent stimuli,''. Innate Immunity, 22(8), 647–657 ,(2016).

208. Ganley, I. G., Lam, D. H., Wang, J., Ding, X., Chen, S., & Jiang, X., ''ULK1•ATG13•FIP200 Complex Mediates mTOR Signaling and Is Essential for Autophagy,''. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 284(18), 12297–12305, (2009).

209. Kim, J., Kundu, M., Viollet, B., & Guan, K.-L., "AMPK and mTOR regulate autophagy through direct phosphorylation of Ulk1,". Nature Cell Biology, 13(2), 132–141,(2011).

210. Bach, M., Larance, M., James, D. E., & Ramm, G.,"The serine/threonine kinase ULK1 is a target of multiple phosphorylation events,". Biochemical Journal, 440(2), 283–291, (2011).

211. Alers, S., Wesselborg, S., & Stork, B., "ATG13. Autophagy," 10(6), 944–956,(2014).

212. Kroemer, G., Mariño, G., & Levine, B., 'Autophagy and the Integrated Stress Response,''. Molecular Cell, 40(2), 280–293,(2010).

213. Dunlop, E. A., Hunt, D. K., Acosta-Jaquez, H. A., Fingar, D. C., & Tee, A. R., 'ULK1 inhibits mTORC1 signaling, promotes multisite Raptor phosphorylation and hinders substrate binding,''. Autophagy, 7(7), 737–747, (2011).

214. English, L., Chemali, M., Duron, J., Rondeau, C., Laplante, A., Gingras, D., ... Desjardins, M. ,''Autophagy enhances the presentation of endogenous viral antigens on MHC class I molecules during HSV-1 infection. Nature Immunology,'' 10(5), 480–487, (2009).

215. Hailey, D. W., Rambold, A. S., Satpute-Krishnan, P., Mitra, K., Sougrat, R., Kim, P. K., & Lippincott-Schwartz, J.,''Mitochondria Supply Membranes for Autophagosome Biogenesis during Starvation,''. Cell, 141(4), 656–667,(2010).

216. Ravikumar, B., Moreau, K., Jahreiss, L., Puri, C., & Rubinsztein, D. C., "Plasma membrane contributes to the formation of pre-autophagosomal structures,". Nature Cell Biology, 12(8), 747–757,(2010).

217. Pattingre, S., Tassa, A., Qu, X., Garuti, R., Liang, X. H., Mizushima, N., ... Levine, B., 'Bcl-2 Antiapoptotic Proteins Inhibit Beclin 1-Dependent Autophagy,''. Cell, 122(6), 927–939,(2005).

218. Abrahamsen, H., Stenmark, H., & Platta, H. W.,"Ubiquitination and phosphorylation of Beclin 1 and its binding partners: Tuning class III phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity and tumor suppression,".FEBS Letters, 586(11), 1584–1591,(2012).

219. Tanida, I., Ueno, T., & Kominami, E.,''Human Light Chain 3/MAP1LC3B Is Cleaved at Its Carboxyl-terminal Met 121 to Expose Gly 120 for Lipidation and Targeting to Autophagosomal Membranes,". Journal of Biological Chemistry, 279(46), 47704–47710,(2004).

220. Kraft, C., Peter, M., & Hofmann, K., 'Selective autophagy: ubiquitinmediated recognition and beyond,''. Nature Cell Biology, 12(9), 836–841,(2010).

221. Walczak, M., & Martens, S.,"Dissecting the role of the Atg12–Atg5-Atg16 complex during autophagosome formation,". Autophagy, 9(3), 424–425, (2013).

222. White, E., & DiPaola, R. S.,"The Double-Edged Sword of Autophagy Modulation in Cancer,". Clinical Cancer Research, 15(17), 5308–5316,(2009).

223. Mathew, R., Kongara, S., Beaudoin, B., Karp, C. M., Bray, K., Degenhardt, K., ... White, E., "Autophagy suppresses tumor progression by limiting chromosomal instability,". Genes & Development, 21(11), 1367–1381, (2007).

224. Thorburn, A., Thamm, D. H., & Gustafson, D. L.,"Autophagy and Cancer Therapy,". Molecular Pharmacology, 85(6), 830–838,(2014).

225. Dalby, K. N., Tekedereli, I., Lopez-Berestein, G., & Ozpolat, B., "Targeting the prodeath and prosurvival functions of autophagy as novel therapeutic strategies in cancer,". Autophagy,6(3),322,(2010).

226. Roy, S., & Debnath, J.,"Autophagy and Tumorigenesis,". Seminars in Immunopathology, 32(4), 383–396,(2010).

227. Morselli, E., Galluzzi, L., Kepp, O., Vicencio, J.-M., Criollo, A., Maiuri, M. C., & Kroemer, G., 'Anti- and pro-tumor functions of autophagy. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA), ''-Molecular Cell Research, 1793(9), 1524–1532, (2009).

228. Nagelkerke, A., Bussink, J., Geurts-Moespot, A., Sweep, F. C. G. J., & Span, P. N.,"Therapeutic targeting of autophagy in cancer. Part II: Pharmacological modulation of treatment-induced autophagy,". Seminars in Cancer Biology, 31, 99–105, (2015).

229. Aplin, A., Jasionowski, T., Tuttle, D. L., Lenk, S. E., & Dunn, W. A., "Cytoskeletal elements are required for the formation and maturation of autophagic vacuoles,". Journal of Cellular Physiology, 152(3), 458–466,(1992).

230. Høyvik, H., Gordon, P. B., & Seglen, P. O.,"Use of a hydrolysable probe, [14C]lactose, to distinguish between pre-lysosomal and lysosomal steps in the autophagic pathway,".Experimental Cell Research, 166(1), 1–14,(1986).

231. Kovács, A. L., Reith, A., & Seglen, P. O., 'Accumulation of autophagosomes after inhibition of hepatocytic protein degradation by vinblastine, leupeptin or a lysosomotropic amine,''. Experimental Cell Research, 137(1), 191–201,(1982).

232. Sun, R., Luo, Y., Li, J., Wang, Q., Li, J., Chen, X., ... Yu, Z.,''Ammonium chloride inhibits autophagy of hepatocellular carcinoma cells through SMAD2 signaling,''. Tumor Biology, 36(2), 1173–1177,(2015).

233. Chude, C. I., & Amaravadi, R. K.,"Targeting Autophagy in Cancer: Update on Clinical Trials and Novel Inhibitors,". International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 18(6),(2017).

234. Pellegrini, P., Strambi, A., Zipoli, C., Hägg-Olofsson, M., Buoncervello, M., Linder, S., & De Milito, A., 'Acidic extracellular pH neutralizes the autophagy-inhibiting activity of chloroquine,''. Autophagy, 10(4), 562–571,(2014).

235. Wang, Y., Peng, R.-Q., Li, D.-D., Ding, Y., Wu, X.-Q., Zeng, Y.-X., ... Zhang, X.-S., 'Chloroquine enhances the cytotoxicity of topotecan by inhibiting autophagy in lung cancer cells, '. Chinese Journal of Cancer, 30(10), 690–700. (2011).

236. Murugan, S., & Amaravadi, R. K., 'Methods for Studying Autophagy Within the Tumor Microenvironment,'. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, 899, 145–166,(2016).

237. Cook, K. L., Warri, A., Soto-Pantoja, D. R., Clarke, P. A., Cruz, M. I., Zwart, A., & Clarke, R.,''Chloroquine Inhibits Autophagy to Potentiate Antiestrogen Responsiveness in ER+ Breast Cancer,''. Clinical Cancer Research, 20(12), 3222–3232,(2014).

238. Manic, G., Obrist, F., Kroemer, G., Vitale, I., & Galluzzi, L., "Chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine for cancer therapy,". Molecular & Cellular Oncology, 1(1), e29911,(2014).

239. Hansen, S. H., Olsson, A., & Casanova, J. E., "Wortmannin, an inhibitor of phosphoinositide 3-kinase, inhibits transcytosis in polarized epithelial cells,". The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 270(47), 28425–28432, (1995).

240. Avni, D., Glucksam, Y., & Zor, T.,"The Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) inhibitor LY294002 modulates cytokine expression in macrophages via p50 nuclear factor kappa B inhibition, in a PI3K-independent mechanism,". Biochemical Pharmacology, 83(1), 106–114,(2012).

241. Egan, D. F., Chun, M. G. H., Vamos, M., Zou, H., Rong, J., Miller, C. J., ... Shaw, R. J.,''Small Molecule Inhibition of the Autophagy Kinase ULK1 and Identification of ULK1 Substrates,''. Molecular Cell, 59(2), 285–297,(2015).

242. Donner, A.,"Deubiquitinating p53,". Nature Chemical Biology, 7(12), 856–856,(2011).

243. Liu, J., Xia, H., Kim, M., Xu, L., Li, Y., Zhang, L., ... Yuan, J., 'Beclin1 Controls the Levels of p53 by Regulating the Deubiquitination Activity of USP10 and USP13,''. Cell, 147(1), 223–234,(2011).

244. SHAO, S., LI, S., QIN, Y., WANG, X., YANG, Y., BAI, H., ... WANG, C.," Spautin-1, a novel autophagy inhibitor, enhances imatinib-induced apoptosis in chronic myeloid leukemia,". International Journal of Oncology, 44(5), 1661–1668,(2014).

245. Donohue, E., Thomas, A., Maurer, N., Manisali, I., Zeisser-Labouebe, M., Zisman, N., ... Roberge, M., 'The Autophagy Inhibitor Verteporfin Moderately Enhances the Antitumor Activity of Gemcitabine in a Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma Model,''. Journal of Cancer, 4(7), 585–596,(2013).

246. Donohue, E., Tovey, A., Vogl, A. W., Arns, S., Sternberg, E., Young, R. N., & Roberge, M., 'Inhibition of Autophagosome Formation by the Benzoporphyrin Derivative Verteporfin,''. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 286(9), 7290–7300,(2011).

247. Carew, J. S., Espitia, C. M., Zhao, W., Han, Y., Visconte, V., Phillips, J., & Nawrocki, S. T., 'Disruption of Autophagic Degradation with ROC-325 Antagonizes Renal Cell Carcinoma Pathogenesis,''. Clinical Cancer Research, 23(11), 2869–2879,(2017).

248. Carew, J. S., & Nawrocki, S. T.,"Drain the lysosome: Development of the novel orally available autophagy inhibitor ROC-325,". Autophagy, 13(4), 765–766,(2017).

249. de Ruijter, A. J. M., van Gennip, A. H., Caron, H. N., Kemp, S., & van Kuilenburg, A. B. P., 'Histone deacetylases (HDACs): characterization of the classical HDAC family, '. The Biochemical Journal, 370(Pt 3), 737–749,(2003).

250. Finbloom, D. S., Silver, K., Newsome, D. A., & Gunkel, R., 'Comparison of hydroxychloroquine and chloroquine use and the development of retinal toxicity,''. The Journal of Rheumatology, 12(4), 692–694,(1985).

251. Mahalingam, D., Mita, M., Sarantopoulos, J., Wood, L., Amaravadi, R. K., Davis, L. E., ... Carew, J. S., 'Combined autophagy and HDAC inhibition,''. Autophagy, 10(8), 1403–1414,(2014).

252. Mizushima, N., Yoshimori, T., & Levine, B.,"Methods in Mammalian Autophagy Research,". Cell, 140(3), 313–326,(2010).

253. Wilson, J. M., Kunnimalaiyaan, S., Kunnimalaiyaan, M., & Gamblin, T. C., 'Inhibition of the AKT pathway in cholangiocarcinoma by MK2206 reduces cellular viability via induction of apoptosis,''. Cancer Cell International, 15(1), 13, (2015).

254. Leelawat, K., Narong, S., Udomchaiprasertkul, W., Leelawat, S., & Tungpradubkul, S.,''Inhibition of PI3K increases oxaliplatin sensitivity in cholangiocarcinoma cells,''.Cancer Cell International,9,3,(2009).

255. Morton, S. D., Cadamuro, M., Brivio, S., Vismara, M., Stecca, T., Massani, M., ... Strazzabosco, M.,''Leukemia inhibitory factor protects cholangiocarcinoma cells from drug-induced apoptosis via a PI3K/AKT-dependent Mcl-1 activation,''. Oncotarget, 6(28),(2015).

256. Sang, H., Li, T., Li, H., & Liu, J., 'Gab1 regulates proliferation and migration through the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway in intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma,''. Tumor Biology, 36(11), 8367–8377,(2015).

257. Yoon, H., Min, J.-K., Lee, J. W., Kim, D.-G., & Hong, H. J., 'Acquisition of chemoresistance in intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma cells by activation of AKT and

extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)1/2,". Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 405(3), 333–337,(2011).

258. Cilloni, D., & Saglio, G.,"Molecular Pathways: BCR-ABL,". Clinical Cancer Research, 18(4), 930–937, (2012).

259. Ghezali, L., Liagre, B., Limami, Y., Beneytout, J.-L., & Leger, D. Y., 'Sonic Hedgehog Activation Is Implicated in Diosgenin-Induced Megakaryocytic Differentiation of Human Erythroleukemia Cells,''. PLoS ONE, 9(4), e95016,(2014).

260. Wellbrock, J., Latuske, E., Kohler, J., Wagner, K., Stamm, H., Vettorazzi, E., ... Fiedler, W., 'Expression of Hedgehog Pathway Mediator GLI Represents a Negative Prognostic Marker in Human Acute Myeloid Leukemia and Its Inhibition Exerts Antileukemic Effects,''. Clinical Cancer Research, 21(10), 2388–2398,(2015).

261. Zuo, M., Rashid, A., Churi, C., Vauthey, J.-N., Chang, P., Li, Y., ... Javle, M. (2015). Novel therapeutic strategy targeting the Hedgehog signalling and mTOR pathways in biliary tract cancer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2014.625</u>

262. Jimeno, A., Weiss, G. J., Miller, W. H., Gettinger, S., Eigl, B. J. C., Chang, A. L. S., ... Rudin, C. M., 'Phase I Study of the Hedgehog Pathway Inhibitor IPI-926 in Adult Patients with Solid Tumors,'. Clinical Cancer Research, 19(10), 2766–2774,(2013).

263. Matsushita, S., Onishi, H., Nakano, K., Nagamatsu, I., Imaizumi, A., Hattori, M., ... Katano, M., ''Hedgehog signaling pathway is a potential therapeutic target for gallbladder cancer,''. Cancer Sci, 105, 272–280, (2014).

264. Poggi, L., & Kolesar, J. M., "Vismodegib for the treatment of basal cell skin cancer,". American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy, 70(12), 1033–1038,(2013).

265. Echelard, Y., Epstein, D. J., St-Jacques, B., Shen, L., Mohler, J., McMahon, J. A., & McMahon, A. P., 'Sonic hedgehog, a member of a family of putative signaling molecules, is implicated in the regulation of CNS polarity,'. Cell, 75(7), 1417–1430,(1993).

266. Blotta, S., Jakubikova, J., Calimeri, T., Roccaro, A. M., Amodio, N., Azab, A. K., ... Munshi, N. C.,"Canonical and noncanonical Hedgehog pathway in the

pathogenesis of multiple myeloma,".Blood, 120(25), 5002-5013,(2012).

267. Arensdorf, A. M., Marada, S., & Ogden, S. K, 'Smoothened Regulation: A Tale of Two Signals,''. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 37(1), 62–72,(2016).

268. Verdelho Machado, M., & Diehl, A. M.,"The hedgehog pathway in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease". Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 53(3), 264–278, (2018).

269. Ramsbottom, S. A., & Pownall, M. E., 'Regulation of Hedgehog Signalling Inside and Outside the Cell,''. Journal of Developmental Biology, 4(3), 23, (2016).

270. Briscoe, J., & Thérond, P. P.,''The mechanisms of Hedgehog signalling and its roles in development and disease,''. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 14(7), 416–429, (2013).

271. Pepinsky, R. B., Zeng, C., Wen, D., Rayhorn, P., Baker, D. P., Williams, K. P., ... Galdes, A., 'Identification of a palmitic acid-modified form of human Sonic hedgehog,''. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 273(22), 14037–14045, (1998).

272. Taipale, J., Cooper, M. K., Maiti, T., & Beachy, P. A., 'Patched acts catalytically to suppress the activity of Smoothened,''. Nature, 418(6900), 892–896,(2002).

273. Denef, N., Neubüser, D., Perez, L., & Cohen, S. M., 'Hedgehog induces opposite changes in turnover and subcellular localization of patched and smoothened,''. Cell, 102(4), 521–531, (2000).

274. Carpenter, D., Stone, D. M., Brush, J., Ryan, A., Armanini, M., Frantz, G., ... de Sauvage, F. J.,"Characterization of two patched receptors for the vertebrate hedgehog protein family,", (1998).

275. Izzi, L., Lévesque, M., Morin, S., Laniel, D., Wilkes, B. C., Mille, F., ... Charron, F.,''Boc and Gas1 Each Form Distinct Shh Receptor Complexes with Ptch1 and Are Required for Shh-Mediated Cell Proliferation,''. Developmental Cell, 20(6), 788–801, (2011). 276. Chuang, P.-T., & McMahon, A. P.,"Vertebrate Hedgehog signalling modulated by induction of a Hedgehog-binding protein,". Nature, 397(6720), 617–621, (1999).

277. Corbit, K. C., Aanstad, P., Singla, V., Norman, A. R., Stainier, D. Y. R., & Reiter, J. F., 'Vertebrate Smoothened functions at the primary cilium,''. Nature, 437(7061), 1018–1021, (2005).

278. Rohatgi, R., Milenkovic, L., & Scott, M. P.,"Patched1 Regulates Hedgehog Signaling at the Primary Cilium,". Science, 317(5836), 372–376, (2007).

279. Hu, L., Lin, X., Lu, H., Chen, B., & Bai, Y., 'An Overview of Hedgehog Signaling in Fibrosis,''. MOLECULAR PHARMACOLOGY Mol Pharmacol, 87, 174–182,(2015).

280. Teperino, R., Aberger, F., Esterbauer, H., Riobo, N., & Pospisilik, J. A., "Canonical and non-canonical Hedgehog signalling and the control of metabolism,". Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology, 33, 81–92,(2014)

281. Atwood, S. X., Li, M., Lee, A., Tang, J. Y., & Oro, A. E., 'GLI activation by atypical protein kinase C ν/λ regulates the growth of basal cell carcinomas,''. Nature, 494(7438), 484–488, (2013).

282. Di Magno, L., Basile, A., Coni, S., Manni, S., Sdruscia, G., D'Amico, D., ... Canettieri, G.,''The energy sensor AMPK regulates Hedgehog signaling in human cells through a unique Gli1 metabolic checkpoint,''. Oncotarget, 7(8), 9538–9549, (2016).

283. Ikram, M. S., Neill, G. W., Regl, G., Eichberger, T., Frischauf, A.-M., Aberger, F., ... Philpott, M., 'GLI2 Is Expressed in Normal Human Epidermis and BCC and Induces GLI1 Expression by Binding to its Promoter, '. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 122(6), 1503–1509, (2004).

284. Hanna, A., & Shevde, L. A.,"Hedgehog signaling: modulation of cancer properies and tumor mircroenvironment,". Molecular Cancer, 15(1), 24, (2016).

285. Merchant, J. L., & Saqui-Salces, M., 'Inhibition of Hedgehog signaling in the gastrointestinal tract: Targeting the cancer microenvironment,''. Cancer Treatment Reviews, 40(1), 12–21, (2014).

286. Chinchilla, P., Xiao, L., Kazanietz, M. G., & Riobo, N. A.,"Hedgehog proteins activate pro-angiogenic responses in endothelial cells through non-canonical signaling pathways,". Cell Cycle, 9(3), 570–579, (2010).

287. Barnes, E. A., Kong, M., Ollendorff, V., & Donoghue, D. J.,"Patched1 interacts with cyclin B1 to regulate cell cycle progression,". The EMBO Journal, 20(9), 2214–2223, (2001).

288. Katoh, M., & Katoh, M., 'Integrative genomic analyses of ZEB2: Transcriptional regulation of ZEB2 based on SMADs, ETS1, HIF1alpha, POU/OCT, and NF-kappaB,''. International Journal of Oncology, 34(6), 1737–1742, (2009a).

289. Katoh, M., & Katoh, M., "Transcriptional mechanisms of WNT5A based on NF-kappaB, Hedgehog, TGFbeta, and Notch signaling cascades,". International Journal of Molecular Medicine, 23(6), 763–769, (2009b).

290. Omenetti, A., Choi, S., Michelotti, G., & Diehl, A. M., 'Hedgehog signaling in the liver,''. Journal of Hepatology, 54(2), 366–373, (2011).

291. Huber, M. A., Kraut, N., & Beug, H., 'Molecular requirements for epithelial-mesenchymal transition during tumor progression,''. Current Opinion in Cell Biology, 17(5), 548–558, (2005).

- 292. Ding, M., & Wang, X. ,"Antagonism between Hedgehog and Wnt signaling pathways regulates tumorigenicity (Review),". Oncology Letters, 14(6), 6327– 6333, (2017).
- 293. Fu, X., Shi, L., Zhang, W., Zhang, X., Peng, Y., Chen, X., ... Zhou, X.,"Expression of Indian hedgehog is negatively correlated with APC gene mutation in colorectal tumors,". *International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine*, 7(8), 2150–2155, (2014).
- 294. Kim, J.-H., Shin, H. S., Lee, S. H., Lee, I., Lee, Y. S., Park, J. C., ... Lee, Y. C., 'Contrasting activity of Hedgehog and Wnt pathways according to gastric cancer cell differentiation: Relevance of crosstalk mechanisms,''. *Cancer Science*, 101(2), 328–335, (2010).

295. Jenkins, D.,"Hedgehog signalling: emerging evidence for non-canonical pathways,". Cellular Signalling, 21(7), 1023–1034, (2009).

296. Riobo, N. A., Haines, G. M., & Emerson, C. P.,"Protein Kinase C-δ and Mitogen-Activated Protein/Extracellular Signal–Regulated Kinase-1 Control GLI Activation in Hedgehog Signaling,". Cancer Research, 66(2), 839–845, (2006).

297. Eberl, M., Klingler, S., Mangelberger, D., Loipetzberger, A., Damhofer, H., Zoidl, K., ... Aberger, F., 'Hedgehog-EGFR cooperation response genes determine the oncogenic phenotype of basal cell carcinoma and tumour-initiating pancreatic cancer cells,''. EMBO Molecular Medicine, 4(3), 218–233, (2012).

298. Kasper, M., Schnidar, H., Neill, G. W., Hanneder, M., Klingler, S., Blaas, L., ... Aberger, F., 'Selective Modulation of Hedgehog/GLI Target Gene Expression by Epidermal Growth Factor Signaling in Human Keratinocytes,'. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 26(16), 6283–6298, (2006).

299. Kern, D., Regl, G., Hofbauer, S. W., Altenhofer, P., Achatz, G., Dlugosz, A., ... Aberger, F., 'Hedgehog/GLI and PI3K signaling in the initiation and maintenance of chronic lymphocytic leukemia,''. Oncogene, 34(42), 5341–5351, (2015).

300. Lauth, M., Bergström, Å., & Toftgård, R.,"Phorbol esters inhibit the Hedgehog signalling pathway downstream of Suppressor of Fused, but upstream of Gli,". Oncogene, 26(35), 5163–5168, (2007).

301. Pelczar, P., Zibat, A., van Dop, W. A., Heijmans, J., Bleckmann, A., Gruber, W., ... Hahn, H.,''Inactivation of Patched1 in Mice Leads to Development of Gastrointestinal Stromal-Like Tumors That Express Pdgfrα but Not Kit,''. Gastroenterology, 144(1), 134–144.e6, (2013).

302. Riobo, N. A., Lu, K., Ai, X., Haines, G. M., & Emerson, C. P., "Phosphoinositide 3-kinase and Akt are essential for Sonic Hedgehog signaling,". Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103(12), 4505–4510, (2006).

303. Nzeako, U., Guicciardi, M. E., Yoon, J.-H., Bronk, S. F., & Gores, G. J., 'COX-2 inhibits Fas-mediated apoptosis in cholangiocarcinoma cells,''. Hepatology, 35(3), 552–559, (2002).

304. Sun, Y., Guo, W., Ren, T., Liang, W., Zhou, W., Lu, Q., ... Yan, T., 'Gli1 inhibition suppressed cell growth and cell cycle progression and induced apoptosis as well as autophagy depending on ERK1/2 activity in human chondrosarcoma cells,''. Cell Death & Disease, 5(1), e979–e979, (2014).

305. Wang, J., Gu, S., Huang, J., Chen, S., Zhang, Z., & Xu, M., 'Inhibition of autophagy potentiates the efficacy of Gli inhibitor GANT-61 in MYCN-amplified neuroblastoma cells,''. BMC Cancer, 14(1), 768, (2014).

306. Brechbiel, J., Miller-Moslin, K., & Adjei, A. A.,"Crosstalk between hedgehog and other signaling pathways as a basis for combination therapies in cancer,". Cancer Treatment Reviews, 40(6), 750–759, (2014).

307. Heidel, F. H., Arreba-Tutusaus, P., Armstrong, S. A., & Fischer, T., "Evolutionarily Conserved Signaling Pathways: Acting in the Shadows of Acute Myelogenous Leukemia's Genetic Diversity,". Clinical Cancer Research, 21(2), 240–248, (2015).

308. Wolf, I., Bose, S., Desmond, J. C., Lin, B. T., Williamson, E. A., Karlan, B. Y., & Koeffler, H. P.,"Unmasking of epigenetically silenced genes reveals DNA promoter methylation and reduced expression of PTCH in breast cancer,". Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 105(2), 139–155, (2007).

309. Fingas, C. D., Mertens, J. C., Razumilava, N., Sydor, S., Bronk, S. F., Christensen, J. D., ... Gores, G. J., 'Polo-like kinase 2 is a mediator of hedgehog survival signaling in cholangiocarcinoma,''. Hepatology, 58(4), 1362–1374, (2013).

310. Sirica, A. E.,''The role of cancer-associated myofibroblasts in intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma,''. Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 9(1), 44–54, (2012).

311. Juntermanns, B., Sydor, S., Kaiser, G. M., Jaradat, D., Mertens, J. C., Sotiropoulos, G. C., ... Fingas, C. D.,"Polo-like kinase 3 is associated with improved overall (2015).

312. Schoffski, P.,"Polo-Like Kinase (PLK) Inhibitors in Preclinical and Early Clinical Development in Oncology,". The Oncologist, 14(6), 559–570, (2009).

- 313. Mizushima, N., Yoshimori, T., & Levine, B., 'Methods in Mammalian Autophagy Research,''. Cell, 140(3), 313–326, (2010).
- 314. Mosmann, T. ,"Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays,". *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 65(1–2), 55–63, (1983).

315. Zhou, J., Tan, S.-H., Nicolas, V., Bauvy, C., Yang, N.-D., Zhang, J., ... Shen, H.-M.,"Activation of lysosomal function in autophagy 508 Activation of lysosomal function in the course of autophagy via mTORC1 suppression and autophagosome-lysosome fusion,". Nature Publishing Group, 23(4), 508–523, (2013).

316. Fass, E., Shvets, E., Degani, I., Hirschberg, K., & Elazar, Z., 'Microtubules support production of starvation-induced autophagosomes but not their targeting and fusion with lysosomes,''. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 281(47), 36303–36316, (2006).

317. Kabeya, Y., Hortsch, M., Gausepohl, H., Meyer, D., Kirisako, T., Noda, T., ... Yoshimori, T., 'LC3, a mammalian homologue of yeast Apg8p, is localized in autophagosome membranes after processing,''. The EMBO Journal, 19(21), 5720–5728, (2000).

318. Köchl, R., Hu, X. W., Chan, E. Y. W., & Tooze, S. A., 'Microtubules Facilitate Autophagosome Formation and Fusion of Autophagosomes with Endosomes,''. Traffic, 7(2), 129–145, (2006).

319. Punnonen, E.-L., & Reunanen, H.,''Effects of vinblastine, leucine, and histidine, and 3-methyladenine on autophagy in ehrlich ascites cells,''. Experimental and Molecular Pathology, 52(1), 87–97, (1990).

320. Seglen, P. O., Berg, T. O., Blankson, H., Fengsrud, M., Holen, I., & Strømhaug, P. E., "Structural Aspects of Autophagy (pp. 103–111),". Springer, Boston, MA, (1996).

321. Maycotte, P., Aryal, S., Cummings, C. T., Thorburn, J., Morgan, M. J., & Thorburn, A., "Chloroquine sensitizes breast cancer cells to chemotherapy independent of autophagy,".,(2012).

322. Rubinsztein, D. C., Gestwicki, J. E., Murphy, L. O., & Klionsky, D. J., "Potential therapeutic applications of autophagy,". Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, 6(4), 304–312, (2007).

323. Zhou, M., & Wang, R., 'Small-Molecule Regulators of Autophagy and Their Potential Therapeutic Applications,''. ChemMedChem, 8(5), 694–707, (2013).

- 324. Hadden, M. K., 'Hedgehog pathway inhibitors: a patent review (2009 present), ''. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Patents*, 23(3), 345–361, (2013).
- 325.Benvenuto, M., Masuelli, L., De Smaele, E., Fantini, M., Mattera, R., Cucchi, D., ... Bei, R. (n.d.). ,"In vitro and in vivo inhibition of breast cancer cell growth by targeting the Hedgehog/GLI pathway with SMO (GDC-0449) or GLI (GANT-61) inhibitors (Vol. 7),".
- 326. De Smaele, E., Ferretti, E., & Gulino, A., "Vismodegib, a small-molecule inhibitor of the hedgehog pathway for the treatment of advanced cancers,". *Current Opinion in Investigational Drugs (London, England : 2000)*, *11*(6), 707–718, (2010).
- 327. Lauth, M., Bergström, Å., & Toftgård, R.," Phorbol esters inhibit the Hedgehog signalling pathway downstream of Suppressor of Fused, but upstream of Gli,". *Oncogene*, 26(35), 5163–5168, (2007).
- 328. Robarge, K. D., Brunton, S. A., Castanedo, G. M., Cui, Y., Dina, M. S., Goldsmith, R., ... Xie, M.," GDC-0449—A potent inhibitor of the hedgehog pathway,". *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, 19(19), 5576–5581, (2009)

329. Darzynkiewicz, Z., Bruno, S., Del Bino, G., Gorczyca, W., Hotz, M. A., Lassota, P., & Traganos, F. ,''Features of apoptotic cells measured by flow cytometry,''. Cytometry, 13(8), 795–808, (1992).

330. Ormerod, M. G. ,"The study of apoptotic cells by flow cytometry,". Leukemia, 12(7), 1013–1025, (1998).

331. Ormerod, M. G.,"Using flow cytometry to follow the apoptotic cascade,". Redox Report, 6(5), 275–287, (2001). 332. Ormerod, M. G., Collins, M. K., Rodriguez-Tarduchy, G., & Robertson, D., 'Apoptosis in interleukin-3-dependent haemopoietic cells,'. Quantification by two flow cytometric methods. Journal of Immunological Methods, 153(1–2), 57–65, (1992).

333. Pollack, A., & Ciancio, G., 'Cell cycle phase-specific analysis of cell viability using Hoechst 33342 and propidium iodide after ethanol preservation,''. Methods in Cell Biology, 33, 19–24, (1990).

334. Wallen, C. A., Higashikubo, R., & Dethlefsen, L. A.,"Comparison of two flow cytometric assays for cellular RNA—acridine orange and propidium iodide,". Cytometry, 3(3), 155–160, (1982).

- 335. Kabeya, Y., Mizushima, N., Ueno, T., Yamamoto, A., Kirisako, T., Noda, T., ... Yoshimori, T.,"LC3, a mammalian homologue of yeast Apg8p, is localized in autophagosome membranes after processing,". *The EMBO Journal*, 19(21), 5720– 5728, (2000).
- 336. Tanida, I., Ueno, T., & Kominami, E.,"Human Light Chain 3/MAP1LC3B Is Cleaved at Its Carboxyl-terminal Met ¹²¹ to Expose Gly ¹²⁰ for Lipidation and Targeting to Autophagosomal Membranes,". *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(46), 47704–47710, (2004).
- 337. Wu, J., Dang, Y., Su, W., Liu, C., Ma, H., Shan, Y., ... Yu, L., "Molecular cloning and characterization of rat LC3A and LC3B—Two novel markers of autophagosome,". *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 339(1), 437–442, (2006).

338. Ghidini, M., Pizzo, C., Botticelli, A., Hahne, J. C., Passalacqua, R., Tomasello, G., & Petrelli, F., 'Biliary tract cancer: current challenges and future prospects,''. Cancer Management and Research, Volume 11, 379–388, (2018).

339. Fingas, C. D., Bronk, S. F., Werneburg, N. W., Mott, J. L., Guicciardi, M. E., Cazanave, S. C., ... Gores, G. J., "Myofibroblast-derived PDGF-BB promotes hedgehog survival signaling in cholangiocarcinoma cells,". Hepatology, 54(6), 2076–2088, (2011).

340. Zhang, R., Wu, J., Ferrandon, S., Glowacki, K. J., & Houghton, J. A.,"Targeting GLI by GANT61 involves mechanisms dependent on inhibition of both

transcription and DNA licensing,". Oncotarget, 7(49), 80190-80207, (2016).

341. Kim, K. H., & Lee, M.-S., "Autophagy—a key player in cellular and body metabolism,". *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 10(6), 322–337, (2014).

342. Kurebayashi, J., Koike, Y., Ohta, Y., Saitoh, W., Yamashita, T., Kanomata, N., & Moriya, T.,''Anti-cancer stem cell activity of a hedgehog inhibitor GANT61 in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer cells,''. Cancer Science, 108(5), 918–930, (2017).

343. Miyazaki, Y., Matsubara, S., Ding, Q., Tsukasa, K., Yoshimitsu, M., Kosai, K.-I., & Takao, S.,"Efficient elimination of pancreatic cancer stem cells by hedgehog/GLI inhibitor GANT61 in combination with mTOR inhibition,". , (2016).

344. Wang, Y., Ding, Q., Yen, C.-J., Xia, W., Izzo, J. G., Lang, J.-Y., ... Hung, M.-C.,"The Crosstalk of mTOR/S6K1 and Hedgehog Pathways,". Cancer Cell, 21(3), 374–387, (2012).

345. Kaylani, S. Z., Xu, J., Srivastava, R. K., Kopelovich, L., Pressey, J. G., & Athar, M., 'Rapamycin targeting mTOR and hedgehog signaling pathways blocks human rhabdomyosarcoma growth in xenograft murine model,''. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 435(4), 557–561, (2013).

346. Paquette, M., El-Houjeiri, L., & Pause, A., 'mTOR Pathways in Cancer and Autophagy,''. Cancers, 10(1), 18, (2018).

347. Oh, W. J., Wu, C., Kim, S. J., Facchinetti, V., Julien, L.-A., Finlan, M., ... Jacinto, E., "mTORC2 can associate with ribosomes to promote cotranslational phosphorylation and stability of nascent Akt polypeptide,". The EMBO Journal, 29(23), 3939–3951, (2010).

348. Zinzalla, V., Stracka, D., Oppliger, W., & Hall, M. N., 'Activation of mTORC2 by Association with the Ribosome,''. Cell, 144(5), 757–768, (2011).

349. Ganley, I. G., Lam, D. H., Wang, J., Ding, X., Chen, S., & Jiang, X., ''ULK1•ATG13•FIP200 Complex Mediates mTOR Signaling and Is Essential for Autophagy,''. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 284(18), 12297–12305, (2009).
350. Hosokawa, N., Hara, T., Kaizuka, T., Kishi, C., Takamura, A., Miura, Y., ... Mizushima, N.,''Nutrient-dependent mTORC1 Association with the ULK1–Atg13– FIP200 Complex Required for Autophagy,''. Molecular Biology of the Cell, 20(7), 1981–1991, (2009).

351. Jung, C. H., Jun, C. B., Ro, S.-H., Kim, Y.-M., Otto, N. M., Cao, J., ... Kim, D.-H. ,''ULK-Atg13-FIP200 Complexes Mediate mTOR Signaling to the Autophagy Machinery,''. Molecular Biology of the Cell, 20(7), 1992–2003, (2009).

352. Xing, X., Zhang, L., Wen, X., Wang, X., Cheng, X., Du, H., ... Ji, J., 'PP242 suppresses cell proliferation, metastasis, and angiogenesis of gastric cancer through inhibition of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway,''. Anti-Cancer Drugs, 25, 1129–1140, (2014).

353. Zeng, Z., Shi, Y. X., Tsao, T., Qiu, Y., Kornblau, S. M., Baggerly, K. A., ... Konopleva, M., "Targeting of mTORC1/2 by the mTOR kinase inhibitor PP242 induces apoptosis in AML cells under conditions mimicking the bone marrow microenvironment,". Blood, 120(13), 2679–2689, (2012).

354. Murugan, S., & Amaravadi, R. K., 'Methods for Studying Autophagy Within the Tumor Microenvironment,''. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, 899, 145–166,(2016).

355. Sobottka, S. B., & Berger, M. R.; 'Assessment of antineoplastic agents by MTT assay: partial underestimation of antiproliferative properties,'. Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology, 30(5), 385–393, (1992).

356. Lin, Y.-C., Lin, J.-F., Wen, S.-I., Yang, S.-C., Tsai, T.-F., Chen, H.-E., ... Hwang, T. I.-S.,''Chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine inhibit bladder cancer cell growth by targeting basal autophagy and enhancing apoptosis,''. The Kaohsiung Journal of Medical Sciences, 33(5), 215–223,(2017).

357. Haghighat, N., Oblinger, M. M., & McCandless, D. W., "Cytoprotective Effect of Estrogen on Ammonium Chloride–Treated C6-Glioma Cells,". Neurochemical Research, 29(7), 1359–1364, (2004).

358. Huang, J. L., & Hezel, A. F., 'Autophagy in intra-hepatic cholangiocarcinoma,''. Autophagy, 8(7), 1148–1149,(2012).

359. MacLachlan, T. K., Sang, N., & Giordano, A., 'Cyclins, cyclin-dependent kinases and cdk inhibitors: implications in cell cycle control and cancer,''. Critical Reviews in Eukaryotic Gene Expression, 5(2), 127–156, (1995).

360. Jiang, P., Zhao, Y., Shi, W., Deng, X., Xie, G., Mao, Y., ... Wei, Y., 'Cell Growth Inhibition, G<sub>2</sub>/M Cell Cycle Arrest, and Apoptosis Induced by Chloroquine in Human Breast Cancer Cell Line Bcap-37,''. Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry, 22(5–6), 431–440, (2008).

361. Li, J., Zhang, L., Xia, Q., Fu, J., Zhou, Z., & Lin, F., "Hedgehog signaling inhibitor GANT61 induces endoplasmic reticulum stress-mediated protective autophagy in hepatic stellate cells,". Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 493(1), 487–493,(2017).

362. Niklaus, M., Adams, O., Berezowska, S., Zlobec, I., Graber, F., Slotta-Huspenina, J., ... Langer, R., "Expression analysis of LC3B and p62 indicates intact activated autophagy is associated with an unfavorable prognosis in colon cancer,"., (2017).

363. Warnes, G., 'Flow cytometric assays for the study of autophagy,''. Methods, 82, 21–28, (2015).

364. Yoon, H., Min, J.-K., Lee, J. W., Kim, D.-G., & Hong, H. J., "Acquisition of chemoresistance in intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma cells by activation of AKT and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)1/2,". Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 405(3), 333–337, (2011).

- 365. Leiva-Rodríguez, T., Romeo-Guitart, D., Marmolejo-Martínez-Artesero, S., Herrando-Grabulosa, M., Bosch, A., Forés, J., & Casas, C., 'ATG5 overexpression is neuroprotective and attenuates cytoskeletal and vesicle-trafficking alterations in axotomized motoneurons,''. *Cell Death & Disease*, 9(6), 626, (2018).
- 366. Jia, B., Xue, Y., Yan, X., Li, J., Wu, Y., Guo, R., ... Sun, L., 'Autophagy inhibitor chloroquine induces apoptosis of cholangiocarcinoma cells via endoplasmic reticulum stress,''. Oncology Letters, 16(3), 3509–3516, (2018).

367. Javle, M. M., Shroff, R. T., Zhu, A., Sadeghi, S., Choo, S., Borad, M. J., ... Bekaii-Saab, T. S. ,"A phase 2 study of BGJ398 in patients (pts) with advanced or metastatic FGFR-altered cholangiocarcinoma (CCA) who failed or are intolerant to platinum-based chemotherapy,". Journal of Clinical Oncology, 34(4_suppl), 335–335, (2016).

368. Rizvi, S., Yamada, D., Hirsova, P., Bronk, S. F., Werneburg, N. W., Krishnan, A., ... Gores, G. J.,"A Hippo and Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor Autocrine Pathway in Cholangiocarcinoma,". Journal of Biological Chemistry, 291(15), 8031–8047, (2016).

369. Sia, D., Losic, B., Moeini, A., Cabellos, L., Hao, K., Revill, K., ... Llovet, J. M. ,''Massive parallel sequencing uncovers actionable FGFR2–PPHLN1 fusion and ARAF mutations in intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma,''. Nature Communications, 6(1), 6087, (2015).

370. Tabernero, J., Bahleda, R., Dienstmann, R., Infante, J. R., Mita, A., Italiano, A., ... Soria, J.-C. ,"Phase I Dose-Escalation Study of JNJ-42756493, an Oral Pan-Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor Inhibitor, in Patients With Advanced Solid Tumors,". Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 33(30), 3401–3408, (2015).

371. Borger, D. R., Tanabe, K. K., Fan, K. C., Lopez, H. U., Fantin, V. R., Straley, K. S., ... Iafrate, A. J., 'Frequent Mutation of Isocitrate Dehydrogenase (IDH)1 and IDH2 in Cholangiocarcinoma Identified Through Broad-Based Tumor Genotyping,''. The Oncologist, 17(1), 72–79, (2012).

372. Rohle, D., Popovici-Muller, J., Palaskas, N., Turcan, S., Grommes, C., Campos, C., ... Mellinghoff, I. K., 'An Inhibitor of Mutant IDH1 Delays Growth and Promotes Differentiation of Glioma Cells,''. Science, 340(6132), 626–630, (2013).

373. Churi, C. R., Shroff, R., Wang, Y., Rashid, A., Kang, H. C., Weatherly, J., ... Javle, M., "Mutation Profiling in Cholangiocarcinoma: Prognostic and Therapeutic Implications,". PLoS ONE, 9(12), e115383, (2014).

374. Kotschy, A., Szlavik, Z., Murray, J., Davidson, J., Maragno, A. L., Le Toumelin-Braizat, G., ... Geneste, O., "The MCL1 inhibitor S63845 is tolerable and effective in diverse cancer models,". Nature, 538(7626), 477–482, (2016).

375. McRee, A. J., Sanoff, H. K., Carlson, C., Ivanova, A., & O'Neil, B. H.,"A phase I trial of mFOLFOX6 combined with the oral PI3K inhibitor BKM120 in patients with advanced refractory solid tumors,". Investigational New Drugs, 33(6), 1225–1231, (2015).

376. Lubner, S. J., Mahoney, M. R., Kolesar, J. L., Loconte, N. K., Kim, G. P., Pitot, H. C., … Holen, K. D., "Report of a multicenter phase II trial testing a combination of biweekly bevacizumab and daily erlotinib in patients with unresectable biliary cancer: a phase II Consortium study,". Journal of Clinical Oncology : Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 28(21), 3491–3497, (2010).

377. Philip, P. A., Mahoney, M. R., Allmer, C., Thomas, J., Pitot, H. C., Kim, G., ... Erlichman, C.,"Phase II study of erlotinib in patients with advanced biliary cancer,". Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 24(19), 3069–3074, (2006).

378. Bridgewater, J., Lopes, A., Beare, S., Duggan, M., Lee, D., Ricamara, M., ... Valle, J. W.,"A phase 1b study of Selumetinib in combination with Cisplatin and Gemcitabine in advanced or metastatic biliary tract cancer: the ABC-04 study,". BMC Cancer, 16(1), 153, (2016).

379. Costello, B. A., Borad, M. J., Qi, Y., Kim, G. P., Northfelt, D. W., Erlichman, C., & Alberts, S. R., "Phase I trial of everolimus, gemcitabine and cisplatin in patients with solid tumors,". Investigational New Drugs, 32(4), 710–716,(2014).

380. Loilome, W., Juntana, S., Namwat, N., Bhudhisawasdi, V., Puapairoj, A., Sripa, B., ... Yongvanit, P.,"PRKAR1A is overexpressed and represents a possible therapeutic target in human cholangiocarcinoma,". International Journal of Cancer, 129(1), 34–44, (2011).

381. Bose, R., Kavuri, S. M., Searleman, A. C., Shen, W., Shen, D., Koboldt, D. C., ... Ellis, M. J., 'Activating HER2 Mutations in HER2 Gene Amplification Negative Breast Cancer,''. Cancer Discovery, 3(2), 224–237, (2013).

382. Guragain, Diwakar et al., "Artesunate and Chloroquine Induce Cytotoxic Activity on Cholangiocarcinoma Cells via Different Cell Death Mechanisms." *Cellular and Molecular Biology* 64(10): 113, 2018.